SOCIAL BASELINE STUDY

AND IMPACT ASSESSMENT FOR

LANGER HEINRICH URANIUM (PTY) LTD'S

PROPOSED EXPANSION PROJECT AT LANGER HEINRICH URANIUM MINE

PREPARED BY MARIE HOADLEY



Marie Hoadley P O Box 95255, Grant Park. 2051 <u>mariehoadley@iafrica.com</u> +27 (0)83 657 9375

Contents

1	INTRODUCTION	4
2	SOCIO-ECONOMIC BASELINE STUDY	4
	2.1 The context	4
	2.1.1 The geographical context	4
	2.2 THE INSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT – DEVELOPMENTAL LEGISLATION AND POLICY	
	2.2.1 The Namibian Constitution	5
	2.2.2 Vision 2030	
	2.3 NATIONAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORKS	6
	2.3.1 National Development Plans	6
	2.3.2 The Millennium Declaration and Millennium Development Goals	8
3	MAJOR ROLE PLAYERS IN THE ERONGO DEVELOPMENT TRAJECTORY	9
	3.1 CENTRAL GOVERNMENT DEPARTMENTS	9
	3.1.1 Ministry of Health and Social Services (MHSS)	9
	3.1.2 The Ministry of Works and Transport (MWT)	9
	3.1.3 The Ministry of Environment and Tourism (MET)	10
	3.1.4 Ministry of Labour and Social Welfare (MLSW)	10
	3.2 THE ERONGO REGIONAL COUNCIL (ERC)	10
	3.3 SOCIO-ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT.	11
	3.3.1 Social environment	11
	3.3.2 Economic environment	13
	3.3.3 Major land-use activities	14
	3.3.4 Economic drivers	14
	3.4 COMMUNITIES OF INTEREST	16
	3.4.1 Swakopmund	17
	3.4.2 Walvis Bay	21
	3.4.3 Education – Swakopmund and Walvis Bay	23
	3.5 FARMING COMMUNITY	24
	3.6 The Topnaar community	24
4	INTRODUCTION TO THE SOCIAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT REPORT	25
	4.1 The purpose and nature of an SIA	26
	4.2 TERMS OF REFERENCE	27
_		~=
Э	METHODOLOGY	27
	5.1 INTRODUCTION	27
	5.2 IDENTIFICATION, ASSESSMENT AND CATEGORISATION OF EXPECTED IMPACTS	27
	5.3 ASSESSMENT OF THE SOCIO-ECONOMIC IMPACTS OF LHU'S CURRENT AND PROPOSED OPERATIONS	29
	5.3.1 Employment creation	29
	5.3.2 Local economies	31
	5.3.3 Infrastructure	32
	5.3.4 Inward migration	36
	5.3.5 Public consultation and disclosure	37
	5.3.6 Employee well-being and workplace policies	39
	5.3.7 Corporate Social Investment and Community Development	41
	5.3.8 Tourism	42
6	CUMULATIVE IMPACTS	44
7	CONCLUSION – SIGNIFICANCE BEFORE AND AFTER INTERVENTION	45
8	REFERENCES	47

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1:	Langer Heinrich Uranium Mine in relation to major points of interest	5
Figure 2:	Percentage of visitors visiting various locations in Namibia.	16
Figure 3:	Kind of travel within Namibia favoured by Namibians. (Source: NTB, 2007)	16
Figure 4:	Water consumption in Swakopmund, December 2005-February 2009	19
Figure 5:	Main roads used for the purposes of Langer Heinrich Uranium Mine	33
1 181110 01		

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Targets for the Minerals Sector in NDP3 (GRN 2008)
Table 2: Fertility and mortality rates in Erongo con	npared to Namibia (Source, ERC, 2007)
Table 3: Human Poverty IndexTable 4	4: Human Development Index for Namibia
Table 5: Main sources of income in Erongo. (Sour	ce: ERC, 2007)13
Table 6: Walvis Bay Water Consumption 2004-20	08 (Brummer 2009, Pers Comm)
Table 7: Rating Criteria for LHU's potential socio-e	conomic impacts (Metago, 2009)28

ABBREVIATIONS

CIA	Central Intelligence Agency
DEA	Directorate of Environmental Affairs
DRC	Democratically Resettled Community
EIA	Environmental Impact Assessment
EPZ	Export Processing Zone
ERC	Erongo Regional Council
GDP	Gross Domestic Product
GRN	Government of the Republic of Namibia
IUCN	International Union for Conservation of Nature
KRA	Key Results Area
LHU	Langer Heinrich Uranium (Pty) Limited
LHUM	Langer Heinrich Uranium Mine
MCA	Millennium Challenge Account
MDG	Millennium Development Goals
MET	Ministry of Environment and Tourism
MHSS	Ministry of Health and Social Services
MME	Ministry of Mines and Energy
MWT	The Ministry of Works and Transport
NamPol	Namibian Police
NNP	Namib Naukluft Park
NDP	National Development Plan
NPC	National Planning Commission
PDA	Progressive Development Area
RA	Roads Authority
SAIEA	Southern African Institute for Environmental Assessment
SSM	Small-scale mining
STC	Swakopmund Town Council
SIA	Social Impact Assessment
SMP	Social Management Plan
ТВ	Tuberculosis
WB	World Bank

1 INTRODUCTION

Langer Heinrich Uranium (Pty) Limited (LHU) has commissioned an Environmental Impact Assessment for the company's proposed Mine Expansion Project (hereinafter referred to as "the Project"). This is in preparation for an application to the Ministry of Mines and Energy for a mining licence to proceed with the activities associated with the Project.

A component of the EIA is a socio-economic baseline and impact assessment of the social environment of the Langer Heinrich Uranium Mine (LHUM). The Equator Principles, according to which this EIA is being conducted, require an assessment of baseline environmental and social conditions which constitute the receiving environment for the potential impacts of the proposed mine expansion.

2 SOCIO-ECONOMIC BASELINE STUDY

2.1 The context

2.1.1 The geographical context

Langer Heinrich Uranium Mine is situated on the eastern extreme of the Namib section of the Namib Naukluft Park (NNP). The Namib section is 14,322 sq. kms in extent. Namibia's only deep-water port, Walvis Bay, lies 80km to the west, and Swakopmund, the major tourist centre for the Erongo Region, lies 85 km to the north-west. The capital city, Windhoek, is about 450 km distant. The mine is accessed via the C28 and a 30 km private access road. From Walvis Bay, the C28 is accessed via the C34. There is an <u>airstrip</u> at the mine site.

The NNP is a designated Category 11 National Park. The definition of this category is "... large natural or near natural areas set aside to protect large-scale ecological processes, along with the complement of species and ecosystems characteristic of the area, which also provide a foundation for environmentally and culturally compatible, spiritual, scientific, educational, recreational, and visitor opportunities" (IUCN 2009).

The Erongo Region hosts a number of uranium projects, both within the Namib Park and outside its borders shows the location of Langer Heinrich Uranium mine in relation to other major mining activities, as well as to Swakopmund, Walvis Bay and the desalination plant at Wlotzkasbaken.

Some of Namibia's most-visited scenic places lie within the Namib Park. These include the Moonscape and the Welwitchia Plains. Bloedkopje is a particularly popular overnight camping site for local and international visitors (Berry, 2009. Pers Comm, Davis, 2009. Pers Comm). There are also a number of private farms along the Swakop River. The C28 is a favoured and important tourist link between Swakopmund and Sossusvlei. The granting of a large tourist concession, including the erection of a lodge, to the Gobabeb Institute, will increase this importance.



Figure 1: Langer Heinrich Uranium Mine in relation to major points of interest.

2.2 The institutional context – developmental legislation and policy

2.2.1 The Namibian Constitution

The Namibian government has adopted policies that promote sustainable development. Most of these originate in clauses of the Namibian Constitution. In Article 95(I), the State undertakes to "actively promote and maintain the welfare of the people by adopting...policies aimed at...the utilisation of natural resources on a sustainable basis for the benefit of all Namibians, both present and future..." Article 98 (1) provides assurance that "The economic order of Namibia shall be based on the principles of a mixed economy with the objective of securing economic growth, prosperity and a life of human dignity for all Namibians." (GRN, 1998)

2.2.2 Vision 2030

The 2030 Vision for Namibia is stated as "A prosperous and industrialised Namibia, developed by her human resources, enjoying peace, harmony and political stability".

Vision 2030 was launched in 2004 in response to a call for a vision that would take Namibia into the future. Vision 2030 is aligned with Namibia's international commitments, such as the Millennium Development Goals (MDG), and its achievement requires a shift from sector development to integrated approaches and strategic partnerships. Major concepts in Vision 2030 include:

People's Quality of Life – this includes issues pertaining to equality and social welfare, human
resource development and institutional capacity building, and population, health and
development.

• Sustaining the Resource Base – this is organized around production systems and natural resources and also touches on aspects of equality and social welfare (GRN, 2005).

The goal of Vision 2030 is to improve the quality of life of all Namibians to the same level as that of their counterparts in developed countries. The goal provides a clear framework for development and places short-term planning within a long-term perspective. Its aim is to provide guidance to all three tiers of government and all sectors of Namibian society so that policy alignment is achieved (GRN, 2004).

Vision 2030 – progress

The following indicate the Namibian government's determination to alleviate poverty and its effects, and so bring about a more equitable society:

- The proportion of Gross Domestic Product (GDP) spent on education places it among the top ten countries in the world.
- It spends the second-largest amount per capita on healthcare on the African continent.
- Access to safe water and sanitation has been improved.
- It is one of very few countries in sub-Saharan African that provides a social safety net for disadvantaged groups such as the elderly and orphans and vulnerable children.
- The Social Security Act provides for maternity and sick leave and medical benefits.(WB 2007)

Poverty, extreme in some cases, social exclusion and unemployment are still widespread, and in 2006 an estimated 34.9% of the population lived on \$1 per day and 55.8% on \$2 per day (CIA 2008). Poverty is aggravated by high unemployment, with an estimated 34% of the labour force unemployed in 2007. Unemployment is particularly prevalent amongst those with little or no skills. The extremely skewed distribution of wealth is reflected in the Gini coefficient for Namibia. At 0.6¹ it is one of the highest in the world (WB 2007).

Poverty and inequality in Namibia are partly due to the difference in the rates of urban and rural growth. 60% of households and 65% of the population are found in the rural areas, but these account for only 38% of total income (WB 2006). Livelihood activities in the rural areas are largely based on subsistence agriculture, and a lack of other and more viable economic opportunities is a major cause of the urbanisation of the population.

Rural populations are disadvantaged in terms of income, employment, education and health-care. In 2009 85% of consumption-poor households were found in rural areas. Most people in rural areas live in sub-standard housing, without water and sanitation facilities. They lack access to potable water, electricity and good transport infrastructure (GRN 2004).

2.3 National Development Frameworks

The National Planning Commission (NPC) is situated within the Office of the President. The NPC is tasked with planning national developmental priorities and directing the course of national development. In this role, it keeps track of development in Namibia through the periodic national population census, household income and expenditure surveys and the collection and organisation of statistics and other data required for planning, both social and economic.

2.3.1 National Development Plans

Vision 2030 envisages National Development Plans (NDP) as the medium-term goals and the main vehicles for achieving the objectives of the long-term Vision in a succession of 5-year plans. Eight identified objectives deal with the broad spectrum of characteristics of an equitable, sustainable and

¹ The Gini coefficient is a widely used measure of income distribution, which can fluctuate from 0 to 1, with 0 being a completely equal distribution of income. A Gini coefficient above 0.55 is considered very unequal.

developed society. These eight objectives form the basis for the NDP3 strategies, where they have been converted into Key Results Areas (KRA) and NDP3 objectives.

NDP3 (2007/2008-2011/1012) is stated to be "the first systematic attempt to translate the Vision 2030 objectives into concrete policies and actions...and the first medium-term strategic implementing tool towards systematic Vision achievement".

The vision statement for NDP2 was "Sustainable and equitable improvement in the quality of life of all the people in Namibia." The review of NDP2 included in NDP3 indicates that the Plan did not achieve its objectives in a number of critical areas. In particular, the unemployment rate increased, in spite of the GDP growth rate of 4.7%. Economic growth did not translate into employment, and the rural areas showed the biggest increase in unemployment, signifying the continuing, possibly intensifying, disparities in rural/urban development.

The vision statement for NDP3 is "Accelerated Economic Growth and Deepening Rural Development". NDP3 is very ambitious, and it is different from previous development plans in that it has quantifiable targets for each goal. Economic growth for the period of NDP3 is projected to range between 5 and 6,5% per annum, despite the difficult global economic situation. This growth will be fuelled by agriculture, fisheries, mining, manufacturing, construction, transport and service sectors and tourism.

Cross-cutting issues that are implicit in nearly all the KRA's are employment creation, training, poverty alleviation and equity of income and access to opportunities. Possibly the most prevalent one is employment creation. The NPC hopes to raise the proportion of the labour force employed from 63.3% in 2004 to 66.7% by 2012. A number of activities and programmes address this issue, including training, support for SME's, focus on youth employment and upper-secondary and tertiary education.

The contribution projected for the minerals sector is significant, and is shown in Table 1.

Indicators	Baselines	Targets
Amend and promulgate Minerals	Draft Document	Minerals Act enacted by end 2008
Act		Mining charter completed by end
Complete Mining Charter		2009
Contribution of minerals to GDP	10.4%	<u>11%</u>
No. of SMEs with Namibian		2 by 2012
ownership in mining sub-sector		
Share of Namibian equity/BEE in	No data available	BEE at15% by 2011
mining		-
Employment in Mining	2% in 2004	2.1% by 2012.
Women's employment in mining	No data available	Increase by 2% by 2012
Investment in mineral	N\$ 477 million in 2005	N\$ 572 million by 2012
exploration		
Percentage comprehensive	80% coverage	100% coverage by 2010
airborne geophysical coverage		
of Namibia magnetic		
radiometrics.		Complete one 1:250000 map sheet
Percentage regional geochemical		per year
sampling survey coverage		Target areas surveyed on annual
Percentage electro-magnetics	Five 1:250000 Map sheets sampled	basis 5000 Line kms per annum.
(EM) Coverage	EM Surveys in the Omaheke region	
	in areas covered by recent Kalahari	
	sediments	
Number of SSM provided with	6 trained	20 SSM trained per regional
basic training in geotechnical,		association per annum
mining, mineral processing and		
marketing services.		
Loans to support SSM from the	N\$ 23.6 million (2007)	N\$ 28.3 million by 2012
Minerals Development Fund or		
private financial institutions.		
No of SSM marketing centres	0 (2007)	3 (2012)
Desalination facilities	O (2007)	1

Table	1:	Targets	for the	e Minerals	Sector in	NDP3	(GRN	2008).
				,	000001			

Under the KRA, *Productive Utilisation of Natural Resources and Environmental Sustainability*, the following strategies, programmes and activities are specifically stated as relevant to the minerals sector:

- promoting the development of new mines through the provision of comprehensive geological information on mineral resources;
- promoting downstream processing and value addition activities;
- encouraging Namibian entrepreneurs in the mining sub-sector and mineral processing;
- supporting small-scale mining and small and medium enterprises;
- developing regional marketing centres for small-scale miners' products;
- providing an enabling legal and regulatory environment and the enforcement of the Mineral Act and Health and Safety Regulations;
- strengthening of Namibia's capacity in mining and mineral processing. The sub-sector programme will involve increased support to improved mining output by large, medium and small-scale miners.

Provision is also made for improved technologies and participation of communities and stakeholders in minerals exploitation.

2.3.2 The Millennium Declaration and Millennium Development Goals

The MDGs set out the key challenges facing humanity, outline a response to these challenges and establish indicators for assessing progress in achieving them by 2015². The MDG is one of the seminal documents informing NDP3. Progress towards achieving the MDGs is integrated into the

² http://www.developmentgoals.org accessed March 2009

national development framework, and many of the successes and failures of NDP2 mirror progress in achieving MDGs.

The UNDP reviewed Namibia's progress in achieving the MDGs in 2004 and again in 2007. While it gives an overall rating of good, problem remain, notably school drop-outs and low Grade 5 survivals, HIV/AIDS (regarded as worsening), basic sanitation in rural households and child mortality.

There are indications that Namibia has not managed to make serious progress in addressing underdevelopment and unemployment. The unemployment rate increased during the period of NDP2, and child, infant and maternal mortality rates have increased. Average life expectancy is 49 years³.

3 MAJOR ROLE PLAYERS IN THE ERONGO DEVELOPMENT TRAJECTORY

3.1 CENTRAL GOVERNMENT DEPARTMENTS

3.1.1 Ministry of Health and Social Services (MHSS)

The mission of the Ministry is to "eliminate the main causes of physical ill-health and mental and social ailments in order to give the Namibian people the opportunity to lead a normal fulfilling life" (MHSS, 2001). Its objectives are to:

- eliminate vaccine-preventable diseases (tuberculosis, measles, diphtheria, pertussis, polio and tetanus),
- eliminate air, water and vector-borne diseases and to do this by aspiring to the highest level of environmental sanitation, community and personal hygiene,
- eliminate sexually transmitted diseases, HIV infection, and alcohol and substance abuse and to achieve this by attaining the highest level of good behavioural practices,
- make necessary facilities and resources for prevention, early recognition and correct management of physical and mental illnesses available, and
- promote and protect the physical, mental and emotional wellbeing of mother and child.

3.1.2 The Ministry of Works and Transport (MWT)

The MWT is tasked with ensuring the availability and quality of transport infrastructure and specialised services. The Roads Authority (RA) was established under MWT's purview in 1999 to manage the national road network. One of the objectives was to achieve a safe and efficient road sector, which would promote and support economic growth. The RA has the duty to plan, design, construct and maintain the national road network and to ensure that work contracted out is performed according to set specifications and standards. It is also responsible for the operation of a road management system and the prevention of excessive damage to roads by enforcing legislation in place for this purpose (MCA 2009).

The RA employs the best possible technical standards in the construction and maintenance of road infrastructure. This is one of the reasons why Namibia is placed amongst the best in road network development and management on the African continent (MCA 2009).

In order to minimize damage to the country's road network, the RA, in cooperation with other law enforcement agencies, administers policies against ill-practices such as vehicle overloading. Weighbridges are positioned at strategic points across the country (MCA 2009). Of relevance to this Report are the weighbridges at Brakwater, which monitors trucks coming from Windhoek to the coast, and the one at Walvis Bay, which monitors trucks going to Swakopmund and inland. According to the

³ Life expectancy was 62 years in 1990

RA, it is possible that 30% of heavy-duty trucks by-pass this weighbridge, especially over week-ends (Amadhila 2009, Pers. Comm).

3.1.3 The Ministry of Environment and Tourism (MET)

The mission of the MET is to:

- maintain and rehabilitate essential ecological processes and life-support systems,
- conserve biological diversity, and
- ensure that the utilization of natural resources is sustainable for the benefit of all Namibians, both present and future, as well as the international community, as provided for in the Constitution.

The MET is mandated to achieve this vision through a number of objectives, which include to:

- apply appropriate environmental, social and economic assessment procedures to development proposals, plans and projects, and
- develop, coordinate and promote tourism on a sustainable basis, both within proclaimed conservation areas and in the country as a whole, in partnership with other organizations.

Two of the Ministry's five directorates are particularly relevant to this Report:

 The Directorate of Environmental Affairs (DEA) has formulated a Mission Statement which commits it to promote environmental protection, environmental planning and environmental coordination to support the sustainable and equitable use of natural resources and national development, and to protect the environment and human welfare from unsustainable, unhealthy and inappropriate practices.

The DEA runs an extensive Environmental Legislation Programme, which has resulted in a series of law-proposals, and a notable outcome has been the Environmental Management Act (Act No 7 of 2007).

• The Directorate of Parks and Wildlife Management is committed to maintain the infrastructure in parks and recreation areas at a standard that will ensure maximum benefit for tourists, to promote the conservation of natural resources and wildlife habitat in Namibia and the sustainable use of wildlife resources.

3.1.4 Ministry of Labour and Social Welfare (MLSW)

The Ministry is responsible for the execution of the Labour Act No. 11 of 2007, the Social Security Act, Act no. 34 of 1994, the Employees Compensation Amendment Act no. 5 of 1995 and The Affirmative Action Act, (Employment) Act no. 29 of 1998. The various Acts stipulate, amongst others, sound labour relations, fair employment practices, employment equity, training, minimum basic conditions of service, workplace health and safety and retrenchment. Compliance is enforced and monitored by the Ministry of Labour through the office of the Labour Commissioner.

3.2 The Erongo Regional Council (ERC)

The Regional Councils Act of 1992, the Decentralisation Policy of 1996 and the Decentralisation Enabling Act provide a legislative framework for progressive decentralisation, i.e. the transfer of comprehensive management and planning authority from central government to regional and local authorities. A Regional Council has the responsibility "to undertake ... the planning of the development of the region for which it has been established" (SAIEA, 2007).

Although the Regional Councils are mandated by legislation that states that they must plan the development of their regions, they are constrained by the limited meaningful power they have gained

and by the slow progress in decentralisation, which is addressed as a critical issue for accelerated development in NDP3.

The ERC's social and community portfolio covers an extensive range of developmental activities. In the context of poverty reduction and economic development, the ERC views sound management of natural resources, such as minerals, as essential. The ERC has a number of focus areas for development. These include water resources, the environment, tourism and fishing and marine resources. Regional Development Plans are aligned with NDPs and, ultimately, with Vision 2030. At the time of this Study the Regional Development Plan for the period covered by NDP3 was not available. However, as discussed previously, NDP3 stresses the need for an increased contribution to development by the minerals sector, and this aspect can be expected to be emphasised in the ERC Development Plan as well.

Developments which could impact on the entire region, such as inward migration of work seekers, have a major impact on towns, and the ERC can only assist local authorities with advice (Garoeb, 2008, Pers. Com.). The ERC's primary development focus is on the rural areas, which are its direct responsibility.

3.3 Socio-Economic Environment

3.3.1 Social environment

Erongo is Namibia's sixth largest region, extending over 63,720 km². The population in 2007 was estimated at 111,346 (GPT, 2008) with a yearly growth rate of 1.3%. The region is sparsely populated, and its inhabitants are widely dispersed, resulting in a very low population density.

80% of the region's population lives in urban settlements (ERC, 2007), principally Swakopmund and Walvis Bay, where most of the urban growth has occurred. Erongo Region is regarded as traditional land by many Damara people, but ethnic diversity is encouraged by the perceived potential for job opportunities in the mining and fishing industries. This pull factor has resulted in a significant number of people of diverse ethnic groups migrating to the region, some to remain.

Erongo is considered to have some of the best schools in Namibia. There are 45 state schools in the region, and 13 private schools. Adult literacy rates are high compared to the national average: 92% of 15+ years are literate. In general more female than male children attend school. In all constituencies, except Daures, females are more literate than males. A significant proportion (19%) of women in rural areas lacks the ability to write and read (ERC, 2007). Remote rural areas display lower literacy rates than urban areas.

Health services in the region are relatively good. The construction of new health facilities has brought health services closer to the communities. There are state hospitals in Omaruru, Usakos, Swakopmund and Walvis Bay. Swakopmund and Walvis Bay have a private hospital each, and clinics serve both the urban and rural population. However, clinic services are not adequate; it is difficult to attract staff to rural areas, and the renovation of existing facilities has been very slow (Ninham Shand, 2008).

Table 2 compares fertility and mortality rates in Erongo with national rates, and shows that life expectancy in Erongo is higher than the national average, while infant and under-five mortality rates are lower.

		Erongo	Namibia
Average number of children per woman ²		5.1	4.1
Infant deaths per 1000 live births:	Female	43	49
	Male	40	55
Child (<5 years) mortality rate	Female	57	64
	Male	49	78
Life expectancy at birth (years):	Female	59	50
	Male	54	48

Table 2: Fertility and mortality rates in Erongo compared to Namibia (Source, ERC, 2007)

Table 3 shows Erongo's ranking on the Human Poverty Index (HPI) for Namibia, and Table 4 <u>shows</u> the region's ranking on the Human Development Index (HDI).⁴ The population of Erongo, after Khomas, has the second-highest state of development and the second lowest rate of human poverty. However, with regard to unemployment, it ranks with those regions that have the highest unemployment rate – over 36%.

Table 3: Human Poverty Indexfor Namibia (Source: UNDP, 2007)

Table 4: Human Development Index for Namibia(Source: UNDP, 2007)

HUMAN POVERTY INDEX (%)							
2001-2004 1991-1994							
Namibia	33	29					
Urban	23	14					
Rural	42	36					
Caprivi	43	38					
Erongo	18	20					
Hardap	30	20					
Karas	21	20					
Kavango	45	52					
Khomas	19	9					
Kunene	38	39					
Ohangwena	42	31					
Omabeke	34	43					
Omusati	45	29					
Oshana	37	33					
Oshikoto	45	27					
Otjozondjupa	23	35					
Male	33	28					
Female	34	31					

HUMAN DEVELOPMENT INDEX							
	2001-2004	1991-1994					
Namibia	0.557	0.607					
Urban	0.661	0.719					
Rural	0.473	0.530					
Caprivi	0.421	0.441					
Erongo	0.705	0.690					
Hardap	0.572	0.637					
Karas	0.664	0.666					
Kavango	0.410	0.480					
Khomas	0.732	0.784					
Kunene	0.504	0.509					
Ohangwena	0.403	0.524					
Omaheke	0.627	0.528					
Omusati	0.476	0.595					
Oshana	0.548	0.602					
Oshikoto	0.490	0.656					
Otozondjupa	0.638	0.567					
Male	0.556	0.609					
Female	0.545	0.580					

Health and health-associated social ills vary throughout the region, largely determined by the urban or rural setting. HIV/AIDS, unemployment and substance abuse, particularly of alcohol, are found throughout the region. TB is mainly related to the coastal towns but also occurs in the rural areas. A

⁴ The HDI and HPI concentrate on three essential dimensions of human life; longevity, knowledge, and a decent standard of living. The HDI seeks to provide a measure for the capabilities of individuals, the HPI focuses on the deprivation in the same three dimensions. For a further discussion of these two indices, see http://www.sarpn.org.za/documents/d0002886/index.php

lack of housing results in overcrowding, which impacts on urban dwellers, while a lack of community development programmes is a problem in rural areas. Commercial sex is not a regional or rural concern, but is mainly related to the coastal towns, in particular to the harbour town of Walvis Bay.

HIV/AIDS is a serious problem for the region's development. The regional prevalence rate of 27% is the highest in the country (The Namibian, 2006). The region also has the highest TB rate in the country at 1,380 per 100,000 population (Shiteta, 2008, Pers. Comm.)The poor housing conditions under which people in backyard shacks and informal settlements live contribute to deterioration in living standards and the spread of TB and HIV/AIDS.

3.3.2 Economic environment

After Khomas Region, Erongo Region has the second highest income per capita in the country. This relative prosperity is based on fishing, mining and tourism. The region is highly dependent on its natural resources, both non-renewable, such as minerals, and renewable such as fish, biomass, water and soils.

Like the rest of Namibia, access to economic opportunities and resources in Erongo is highly skewed. Some rural communities, such as the Topnaars, are isolated, marginalized and under-developed, and they have little access to the mainstream economy or to alternative livelihood opportunities. The uneven spread of development, benefits and economic opportunities is reflected in the regional Gini co-efficient of 0.60. 19.7% of the population is regarded as poor, i.e. more than 60% of household expenditure is on food. 7.1% of the regional population is extremely poor, i.e. more than 80% of household expenditure is on food (ERC, 2007).

68% of all employed persons are employed in the private sector, where the number of males is almost double that of females. The state sector employs about 16% of all employees in the region, and men dominate this employment sector as well (ERC, 2007).

Erongo's major urban centres, Swakopmund and Walvis Bay, comprise more than 50% of the region's economic base, and they contribute more than 25% to national GDP.

Table 5 shows the main sources of income in Erongo, and reveals a high dependency on wages and salaries compared to the national rate of 41.4%. This makes the workforce vulnerable to downscaling, retrenchment and closure of projects.

farming	3.9
business (non-farming)	7.9
wages and salaries	66.6
pension	9.6
cash remittance	8.0
other	2.8

Table 5: Main sources of income in Erongo. (Source: ERC, 2007)

Industrial activity is limited and based on fish processing, concentrated in Walvis Bay. Constraints on industrial development are the lack of a sufficient supply of water and a sufficiently large local market (GPT, 2008).

SME activity is also limited and is concentrated mainly in trade and services and, to a lesser extent, in manufacturing (which includes beer/liquor brewing). Inputs for the manufacturing industry cannot be sourced locally and it is usually not possible to have machinery and equipment repaired locally. Growth potential in the SME sector in Erongo is closely linked to growth in the manufacturing and transport sectors and to the fishing, tourism, and mining sectors.

Significant agricultural activity is not possible, due to the aridity of the soil and a lack of water.

3.3.3 Major land-use activities

Conservation

Much of the Namib Desert falls within conservation areas, and National Parks account for almost a third of the land use within the Erongo Region. These areas include The Namib section of the Namib Naukluft Park and the National West Coast Tourist Recreational Area. Currently there is one mine operational within the Namib Park, and a number of EPLs have been granted. Activities in terms of these have commenced.

• Agriculture

Areas of the Central Namib Desert which have not been proclaimed as conservation areas usually have no surface water and little or no underground water available. Consequently, they are generally of very low agricultural potential and cannot support formal farming activities. Two types of farmers are active in the Erongo Region: communal farmers and commercial farmers. Communal farmers are involved in small-scale production for own consumption or for sale at the local, often informal, markets.

The following aspects of commercial farming could be found in the Erongo area:

- o livestock, i.e. both small and large stock,
- o wildlife,
- o tourism/lodges and game farms/guest farms, and
- o irrigation, i.e. vegetables, grapes and citrus.

Farms located on the lower portion of the escarpment/desert transition are considered totally unsuited to any farming practice. Nearer the coast, formal farming is undertaken on several small holdings in the lower Swakop River. Dairy and vegetables are produced here for the local market. Towards the interior portion of the Central Namib Desert, informal farming was conducted along the courses of most of the rivers and still continues along the rivers to the north of the Swakop River. Several groups of Topnaar raise goats, cattle and donkeys along the lower reaches of the Kuiseb River.

• Mining

Mining activities account for a significant portion of land-use in the Erongo Region. According to the Ministry of Mines and Energy, as at 1 September 2006, approximately 114 licences and/or Exclusive Prospecting Licences were registered or pending with the Ministry, though most of these have not yet been activated. The main commodities mined are uranium and gold. Extensive salt mining also occurs along the coast at Walvis Bay. Prior to the start of mining operations at Rössing Uranium, several small- to medium-scale prospecting and mining operations were located in the Central Namib region, focusing mainly on copper, tin and semi-precious stones.

Small-scale mining (SSM) is an important economic activity in the region. A total of 521 claims were registered or pending with the Ministry of Mines and Energy as at 1 September 2006. The main commodities are semi-precious stones, dimension stone and tantalite-cassiterite.

3.3.4 Economic drivers

The minerals sector

Mining activities account for a significant portion of land-use in the Erongo Region. Significant mining activities in the region are Rössing Uranium, the Navachab gold mine, Langer Heinrich Uranium, AREVA and the coastal salt operations.

SSM is an important economic activity in the region. Most of the small-scale miners operate at a subsistence level, but the sector is important for providing employment and livelihoods. The Rössing

Foundation, which works extensively with the SSM sector, currently has 2843 small-scale miners on its database (Ondigo 2008, Pers Comm).

There are a number of dimension stone operations and quarries in Erongo, some of them within conservancies and the NNP.

Benefits accruing to local communities from mining operations are substantial. Contributions to local and regional economies include procurement of goods and services, and remittances sent back to the areas of origin of employees. These remittances play a significant role in sustaining families and livelihoods in those regions.

The minerals sector also contributes substantially to further education by means of bursaries, of which in excess of 350 new ones were granted in 2006-2007. Virtually all major operations are devoting significant levels of resources – some around 5% of their labour costs – to education and skills training, both of their own employees and also of the wider community (CoM, 2007).

Tourism

Tourism is Namibia's 3rd largest foreign exchange earner and is one of the fastest growing industries in Namibia. In Erongo, tourism resources are exploited by only a small section of the business community. This limits the benefits the sector could offer to community development in the region. Erongo has extensive and varied tourism potential and could offer a wider range of experiences to visitors by co-operation and skills development in all the groups active, or with the potential to be active, in the sector.

National parks and protected and conservation areas account for 35.8% of land-use in Erongo Region. These areas include the Namib section of the NNP (14,322 Sq. Kms), the National West Coast Tourist Recreation Area (7,382 sq. Kms), Cape Cross Seal Reserve (22 sq kms) and Walvis Bay Nature Reserve and Dunes (WBNR) (1,080 sq. Kms).

Protected areas account for about 70% of holiday expenditure in Namibia (WTTC, 2006).

Continued profit from these areas depends on their conservation and the enhancement of the natural environment from generation to generation. Employment creation can be significant. In Erongo, there is public concern about the increasing industrial activity, particularly mining, with its attendant infrastructure, that is taking place in conservancies and in the NNP. Namibia's particular attractions for tourism lie in the abundance of wildlife, the unique ecosystems and the desert sense of place. People come for the vast spaces, the isolation, and the quiet. These characteristics are rapidly sustaining severe negative impacts.

The World Travel and Tourism Council (WTTC) produces annual reports which assess the tourism sector's current and likely future contribution to national economic activity, employment and GDP. It's 2009 report on Namibia (WTTC, 2009) provides the following statistics:

- the sector's contribution to GDP is expected to rise from 13.9% (N\$ 8,560.9 m) in 2009 to 20.0%
 - (N\$ 29,048.2 m) by 2019;
- employment by the sector is expected to rise from 77,000 jobs in 2009, (17.8% of total employment, 1 in every 5.6) jobs to 130,000 jobs (23.2% of total employment, 1 in every 4.3 jobs) by 2019.
- real GDP growth for the sector expected to be 4.5% in 2009 and to average 7.9% per annum over the following 10 years.
- export earnings are expected to generate 15.2% of total exports (N\$ 5,313.5 m) in 2009, growing, in nominal terms to N\$ 20,471.9 m (22.1% of total exports) in 2019.

It was not possible to access a wide range of statistics relevant to Erongo, but the following is indicative of the popularity of the region. Figure 2 shows that, of the ten destinations most visited by international tourists, six are located in Erongo Region.



Figure 2: Percentage of visitors visiting various locations in Namibia. Red bars indicate designated protected areas and other nature areas (Turpie et al., 2005)

In 2007 Erongo recorded the second highest number of bednights sold , and in January – February 2008 the third-highest bed occupancy in the country. The region also has the highest amount of accommodation for tourists and registered the most new establishments between 2006 and 2007 (HAN, 2008)

It is not only foreign visitors that are attracted by unique natural environments in the country. Figure 3 shows that Namibians who travel within the country have a strong preference for nature-based travel.





3.4 Communities of interest

These communities have been identified on the basis of their service provision to Langer Heinrich (accommodation, transport, supplies, etc) and on the basis of shared resource-use.

3.4.1 Swakopmund

The town of Swakopmund is located on the coast, approximately 85 km from the Langer Heinrich Uranium Mine. It is a popular tourist centre, and the seat of the Erongo Regional Council.

The socio-economic profile of the town has undergone considerable changes during the last five years as a result of the burgeoning uranium activities in close vicinity to it.

Demographics

The population is estimated to be between 40 000 and 42 000, based on the 2006 polio vaccination programme. The number of people in the town doubles in the tourist season, and it is popular with both domestic and foreign tourists.

About 6,000 people currently live in the informal settlement, the Democratically Resettled Community (DRC). The largest part of the migratory workforce occupies temporary housing facilities in Mondesa. It is also from these informal housing locations that most of the reported cases of TB originate (Ninham Shand 2008).

Informants state that there has been an increase in the population. This opinion is based on the number of vagrants in the streets, the rising crime rate (usually associated with unemployment) and the increasing numbers of out-patients at the state health facilities.

The attraction of potential job opportunities which stimulates inward migration has led to an ethnically mixed town. The white population is relatively large and there is a significant presence of German-speaking residents, but the number of foreign nationals is increasing as mining companies bring in their own staff and expertise. The DRC has been described as a "melting pot", with people arriving from all the regions in Namibia, as well as from neighbouring SADC and other African countries.

Swakopmund has excellent medical facilities, and together with is situation on the coast, this makes it a favoured retirement town.

The unemployment rate is difficult to state because of the different ways in which unemployment is defined, and because of the mobility of a large sector of the population. It is estimated to be in the region of 40%. The unemployment rate in the DRC is estimated to exceed 55% (Ninham Shand 2008).

Only one-third of Erongo residents were born where they live. The rest have come to their place of residence from elsewhere. Compared with all 13 regions of Namibia, no other region has such a high rate of people living in an area where they were not born (NPC, 2000b).

Economy

The economic stability of the town is mainly based on the hospitality industry, mining and to a lesser extent small scale industries (Swakopmund, 2009). The mainstay of the economy has traditionally been the tourist sector, which is easily affected by crime and environmental factors. Swakopmund is well-positioned for visits to the eco-tourism sites which give the region its unique appeal, and numerous tour companies use the town as a base for trips to sites such as the NNP, the Skeleton Coast, Spitzkoppe and the Brandberg. The land-use conflict between these fragile eco-systems and mineral extraction is of concern to stakeholders. The issue of short-medium term benefits from mining versus sustainable benefits from the tourist industry is one which is addressed by the STC in its long-term strategic plan, which makes provision for strengthening the tourism base, the establishment of a heavy industrial zone and the encouragement of heavy industry and a diversified economy (Swakopmund, 2009).

Swakopmund has a large and diverse number of retail outlets, and business and light industry support services. The town is well-placed to respond to increased consumer demand and to benefit from the

additional cash flowing into the economy. However, there are also increasing demands for business and residential space, which is not freely available.

Social concerns

The socio-economic profile of the town is that of a dual economy, with wealth existing side-by-side with extreme poverty. This duality is reflected in the lack of integration between the more affluent suburbs and the cosmopolitan central business district on the one hand, and suburbs like Mondesa and the DRC on the other. Until recently, tourist maps did not reflect the poorer suburbs or the DRC.

Alcohol abuse is a serious problem. Contributory causes are poverty, unemployment and poor living conditions. Most cases of domestic violence are attributed to alcohol abuse. In Mondesa, there has been a public outcry against the number of shebeens operating. People are starting to query the ease with which shebeens get licensed, but this issue is a politically sensitive one.

The biggest challenge for the Council is the inflow of job-seekers who need accommodation, which is not readily available. Inward migration has resulted in a proliferation of backyard shacks, as well as increasing the average poverty and unemployment rates. Almost every second house in Mondesa has a shack in the backyard and the total number of backyard shacks is estimated at 4,000, with up to 12 shacks and a formal house on one stand. (Plaatjie Pers. Comm. 2009). The STC is trying to limit the number of shacks, as people are paying excessive rentals for unacceptable and congested living conditions, where access to services is inadequate. Safety is compromised and shacks frequently burn down. The economic impacts on people who are already poor, and the social impacts on formal residential areas, particularly in Mondesa, are high. However, landlords are earning an income from letting out space in their backyards, and this cannot be ignored. The STC is promoting the building of decent living quarters which will also improve the value of properties, but, the shack culture appears to be entrenched, and moving people away from it is difficult and politically sensitive.

The DRC is the only informal settlement in Swakopmund. It is situated north-east of Mondesa, at some distance from the town. There are approximately 1,370 plots. Housing and living standards are sub-standard compared to the rest of Swakopmund.

Municipal and social services

The general reaction to questions about the capacity of the Swakopmund Town Council (STC) to continue delivering sufficient and efficient services in the event of a significant inward migration was positive. However, some concerns were expressed, the most prominent being housing and accommodation, school capacity and the growth of informal settlements with the attendant social problems.

Housing

Housing is a major concern, and currently there is no serviced land available. The demand for property is great, but the STC cannot meet most of these demands due to the unavailability of land and the lengthy process for the proclamation of townships. The high demand for land, for investment, holiday homes, speculation and retirement_, has dramatically increased property values, which are amongst the highest in Namibia. Newcomers to the market will not only be faced by a shortage of accommodation and serviced erven, but also by prices which will be out of reach of the average worker (Ninham Shand, 2008). In recognition of this, the STC has adopted a policy of allowing certain auctions to be reserved for first-property owners (Swakopmund, 2006).

Business premises, too, are in short supply, and because demand exceeds supply, the rentals are high.

800 erven are being developed between Mondesa and the DRC. This area is termed a Progressive Development Area (PDA) and it is intended for low-cost housing that can be improved at a later stage. The erven are fully serviced with the exception of the provision of electricity, which still needs to be finalized. The STC wants people living in the DRC and in backyard shacks to move into this area.

Water

Swakopmund is supplied with drinking water from the Omdel aquifer. The Omdel Scheme is currently being utilised to the maximum as a result of an historical over-estimation of its capacity. Figure 4 shows that, in spite of the physical expansion of the town, water consumption in Swakopmund has remained relatively stable for the last three years, probably as a result of the staggered water tariff and the fact that the public is becoming more aware of the need to save water.



Figure 4: Water consumption in Swakopmund, December 2005-February 2009

A significant increase in the number of households and inward migration to informal settlements and backyard shacks could place demands on supply which will be difficult to meet. Consumption in the DRC increased from 6,678m³ in 2004/2005 to 8,978 m³ in 2005/2006 (STC 2006).

High water losses are experienced, and these are ascribed largely to illegal connections and ageing infrastructure. Proposed expenditure for the STC's 2009/2010 budget includes partial replacement of lines which are too old to meet the demands of the developing town (Swakopmund, 2009). Water losses will be monitored by remote-controlled zone water meters.

Waste

Swakopmund has experienced problems with its cleansing services as a result of the influx of people and the inadequacy of the existing current solid waste dump. To address these problems, the STC has introduced additional refuse removal trucks to maintain a good standard of service. This necessitates a restructuring of tariffs, which will increase during the 2009/2010 budget period.

The upgrading and maintenance of the refuse dump has been outsourced to Enviro-Fill Namibia, and adjusted disposal fees will be levied from 1 July 2009.

Law and Order

It was not possible to access crime statistics for Swakopmund, but there are indications that it is a matter of concern, particularly for a town whose economy is based on tourism. Visitors to the town are provided with pamphlets detailing measures they should take for their own safety, and these are also listed on the web site of the STC and various travel agencies. There are visible security

measures throughout the town. The STC has appealed to the business community to support anticrime initiatives, including the Mayoral Anti-Crime Fund, which assists NAMPOL by maintaining their vehicles. A recent initiative, Crime-Stoppers, is a public-private partnership between NAMPOL, community members and volunteers, mostly young people. According to the spokesperson for the organisation, economic crimes are the most prevalent ones in the town, whereas most drug and alcohol related crimes occur in Mondesa (Swakopmund Crime Stoppers, 2009).

Most cases of domestic crime are attributed to alcohol abuse, whereas poverty is the cause of housebreaking and theft. A NAMPOL spokesperson, expressing concern about inward migration commented that: "Even if the public and the mining companies gave millions to train officers, crime would go up because of pressure of poverty. People need to live, and if they have no jobs they turn to crime." (Ninham Shand 2008).

Electricity

Swakopmund has no infrastructure problems with the supply of electricity to consumers, as this was part of the STC's master development plan. However, there is ongoing dissatisfaction with Erongo Red, which, the STC maintains, has resulted in duplication of services and an escalation of the cost of electricity. When the STC was the service provider, non-remunerative services were partially funded from surpluses generated from the supply of electricity, but this is no longer possible. These services become more onerous and more necessary as the informal settlements grow disproportionately to municipal resources to fund them.

As a result of the large numbers of people living in backyard shacks, illegal and unsafe electricity connections are an ongoing problem. These connections are responsible for at least 80% of the fires that occur in Swakopmund.

The STC has set aside N\$ 23 400 000.00 over two budget years for the provision of electricity to individual erven in the PDA. However, this may well be insufficient, and further funding will have to be sourced (Swakopmund 2009).

In the DRC, electricity connections are supplied to facilities that are carrying out high-priority services, such as day-care centres, but there is no electricity for domestic consumption. Paraffin is generally used for cooking, and candles for lighting.

Health Services

Swakopmund has one primary health care clinic, a TB clinic, one state hospital and one private hospital. The spokesperson for the Cottage Medi Clinic reported improved hospital occupancy in the first half of 2007 which could be indicative of a growing workforce in the Swakopmund area. Both the facility and its operating theatres have capacity to cope with many more patients. The spokesperson for the clinic stated that it is difficult to assess the impact that the uranium boom would have on the region, on Swakopmund and ultimately on the Clinic, particularly as the number of people to be employed by the mines could not be established (Ninham Shand, 2008).

The Swakopmund State Hospital has to deal with an influx of unemployed people. Staffing levels and emergency and ambulance services all present problems. Over a three-year period, the number of inpatients regionally increased from 6 to 8 thousand per year, largely people living in informal settlements and backyard shacks. The health services are feeling the strain and the out-patients departments are overcrowded (Ninham Shand 2009).

A critical health concern is TB. The notification rate in Erongo is one of the highest in the world, and most of the infected people are from informal settlements and, in Swakopmund, from Mondesa. Causative factors of TB include poverty and the attendant poor living conditions. Although the HIV/AIDS prevalence statistics in Swakopmund has declined, expectations are that these will escalate again with significant inward migration. Social ills and alcohol abuse are also expected to increase.

3.4.2 Walvis Bay

The estimated population of Walvis Bay is 61,000 (2007). A significant number of migrant workers from other regions move in an out of the town, depending on the seasonal availability of work opportunities, but information on their numbers was not available.

Economy

Walvis Bay is the principal port of Namibia. The economy of the town is fairly diversified. The major economic activities are fishing and the onshore processing of fish. The industry has survived periods of decline and continues to play an important role in the development of Walvis Bay. The need for ship repair and maintenance, both to the fishing and other industries, has led to the emergence of well-equipped engineering firms with a high degree of expertise. The number of support industries to these has increased accordingly.

Investments in the town have been considerable, and are predicted to continue. These include the establishment of an assembly plant by West Coast Truck Exports and the refurbishment of the BP fuel tank storage facility. The Walvis Bay fuel depot is the largest of its kind on the African coast.

The main manufacturing activities take place within the Export Processing Zone (EPZ). The EPZ companies are involved in the manufacturing of plastic products, automotive parts, fishing accessories, bathroom fittings and diamond cutting and polishing. Not only does the EPZ develop the country's manufacturing industry, it also creates much needed employment.

Most of the suppliers and service providers to mining companies are based in Walvis Bay. These range from small engineering companies to larger transport companies and suppliers of fuel and lubricants. An increase in activity in the uranium mining sector has resulted in a significant increase in local procurement, especially in engineering and transport service.

Another emerging sector is tourism. Walvis Bay hosts a number of premier eco-tourism sites, such as Sandwich Harbour and the Walvis Bay Lagoon, an important wetland and a Ramsar site which is the oldest lagoon on the Namibia Coast. The upgrading of the Walvis Bay airport will provide further stimulus for the growth of this sector.

Namport manages the port of Walvis Bay, a key aspect of the local and Southern African regional economy. It is a hub port for Southern and central African Countries, an important railhead and the only natural deep-water port in the country. Fish, mining products and meat are exported from here, and it is also the receiving point for imports of consumables, including machinery and foodstuffs. Due to its link with southern Africa through the various transport corridors, the port is a catalyst for development in Erongo, Namibia and the African countries that use its facilities.

Services

Walvis Bay receives potable water from 57 boreholes in the Kuiseb River well field and uses recycled sewage water for irrigation of public places. As a result of a series of power outages that affected borehole operations at Swartbank, Walvis Bay has experienced severe water supply crises twice in 2009, and industries have reported N\$ millions in losses. The supply of water from the Kuiseb River and the maintenance of the infrastructure are the responsibility of NamWater. At the time of this Report, no solution had been proposed to solve a critical growth problem for Erongo's major industrial centre.

Table 8.3.1 – Water Consumption (m ³)						
	04/05	05/06	06/07	07/08		
Kuisebmond	1170845	1149985	1150795	1146520		
Narraville	332624	330665	345592	358662		
Fishing Ind	871748	726718	714366	731994		
Langstrand	102880	100636	117714	127334		
Dolphin Park	40811	30951	33688	40312		
NamPower Proper	1945075	1866564	1993140	2243692		
Total	4463983	4205519	4355295	4648314		

Table 6: Walvis Bay Water Consumption 2004-2008 (Brummer 2009, Pers Comm)⁵

Electricity

According to a spokesperson for NamPower the current electricity capacity in the various towns in the region are sufficient for intended development. Currently, Walvis Bay consumes 29MVA, and 35MVA is available. No problems for development in the immediate future are foreseen in the town (Kruger, 2007 Pers. Comm., 2007). However, developments in Erongo, particularly in the minerals sector, indicate that substantially more power would be needed in the short-term. An EIA commissioned by NamPower for a coal-fired power station in the vicinity of Walvis Bay has been completed, but no further information on progress is available.

Housing

Five distinct residential areas can be identified in Walvis Bay:

- the formerly "black township" of Kuisebmond, low income groups, with a few representatives of the middle to upper income groups,
- the formerly "coloured" township of Narraville, low middle income groups
- Walvis Bay Central, middle income groups
- Meersig and Langstrand, upper wealthy income group

Within the urban areas the living conditions reflect the inequitable distribution of wealth that is one of the characteristics of the Namibian economy. Houses in Langstrand and Meersig are spacious, have expansive views and are at a remove from industrial activity. Kuisebmond and Narraville erven are smaller, as are the houses. In Kuisebmond, as many as ten informal dwellings, plus a formal dwelling, have been reported on one erf. The views from both suburbs are largely of industry and main roads, and this situation is likely to be compounded by proposed new developments, such as the light industrial zone near Narraville.

Walvis Bay has virtually run out of serviced land and the town is experiencing a critical housing backlog. When land does become available (and it will be unserviced) it will cater for all economic sectors, but the emphasis is on the lower and lower-middle income markets sectors, where the demand is. Currently the waiting list for low-cost housing is about one thousand people and the Namibia Housing Enterprise has a list which is in excess of three thousand. In addition, there are the approximately six thousand shack dwellers that are in need of housing (Manale 2008 Pers. Comm.). Property prices in general, as well as rentals, are expected to increase.

Unlike other towns, Walvis Bay does not have demarcated informal settlement areas and this has resulted in the proliferation of backyard shacks in Kuisebmond.

⁵ Excluding consumption by NamPort.

Waste. The municipality has a landfill site and five compactors to deal with waste. The desert is also used as a location for dumping waste, as the sand quickly covers the material. There are recyclers for plastic, paper and metals. Hazardous waste is dealt with in an incinerator at the landfill site, which serves the entire region.

Health. Walvis Bay has one state hospital (120 beds), one private hospital, (50 beds), and five clinics serving urban and rural Walvis Bay. The hospital provides services very largely to the indigent and the very poor. Most of the people who are admitted as in-patients suffer from HIV/AIDS-related illnesses or TB, and these two diseases are amongst the ten top health concerns in the town as identified by the state hospital staff. Walvis Bay is a harbour town, and commercial sex is a serious problem. Sex workers participate in HIV/AIDS programmes, but the vicissitudes of their profession do not always allow them to practice safe sex.

Between 2005/6 and 2006/7 the number of new TB cases reported in Walvis Bay decreased but the number of deaths increased for the same time period, as did the number of drug resistant cases (Dreyer, 2008, Pers. Com.). In 2008 the Walvis Bay State Hospital was treating in excess of twenty multi-drug resistant patients and two XDR-TB (Extremely Drug Resistant Tuberculosis) cases (BayNews, 2008).

Social. The health problems discussed above are related to poverty and poor living conditions. Inward migration of job seekers is a problem, as large numbers of these people find accommodation in backyard shacks. The estimated number of people living in such accommodation in Kuisebmond in 2007 was six thousand (Kruger 2007, Pers. Comm.). The shacks are regarded as the biggest source of TB.

Alcohol and drug abuse, also usually associated with poverty, unemployment and poor living conditions, is a significant problem, and the hospital regularly has to treat the results, such as stab sounds. Domestic violence is prevalent, especially from the 20th to the end of the month. During that time three to four cases occur a week, and they are very violent. The rate of attempted suicides is high, and averages twelve a month. Most of the attempts are made by women and most are Kuisebmond residents (Lekobane, 2009, Pers. Com.).

According to a spokesperson for the Walvis Bay Municipality, the main influx of people is work seekers who have heard about new industries being set up. They normally do not return to their place of origin, but remain in Walvis Bay. This increases the unemployment rate and puts pressure on service provision, such as affordable housing.

3.4.3 Education – Swakopmund and Walvis Bay

The two towns are served by the following number of schools:

- State secondary schools Swakopmund 5, Walvis Bay 5,
- State Primary schools Swakopmund 6, Walvis Bay 6,
- Private schools Swakopmund 3, Walvis Bay 2.

Parents regard the coastal schools as better than those in the rural areas, and choose to send their children there. The schools also have to accommodate the children of those work seekers who bring dependents with them. This has resulted in the severe pressure on capacity and resources that is being experienced by the schools in Walvis Bay and Swakopmund.

The Ministry of Education (Erongo Region) has embarked on a programme of upgrading hostels and making additional classrooms available, especially at those schools where teachers are teaching in two shifts. The private schools have indicated that, should funding become available, they would be willing to expand.

State schools offer a good range of sporting activities, and schools throughout the region are very active in sports, including rugby, soccer, tennis and athletics. Private schools, because of a lack of facilities, only offer limited sporting activities.

The phenomenon of illiteracy in learners in higher grades is a regional one. The Rössing Foundation is addressing this at a number of schools. Only two schools in the region offer technical subjects at secondary level. The problems experienced in mathematics and science tuition persist, even though these subjects are offered by all schools. The Rössing Foundation is assisting in this respect as well.

There is no way of ascertaining to what extent the inflow of workers and employment seekers have impacted on education services, as mining companies to not maintain employee profiles. Although most of LHU's workforce was recruited locally, a spokesperson for the company is of the opinion that most of them come from the northern regions (LHU, 2009), and it is not possible to estimate how many of them brought their families with them.

An initiative by the Chamber of Mines of Namibia to facilitate co-operative engagement of the various mining companies with educational authorities has reportedly not progressed.

As far as learner numbers are concerned, Walvis Bay is the fastest growing town in the country. Every year, in addition to normal growth, the schools start with about 150 more learners than the projected figures for the year. The Ministry of Education is accommodating the overflow in rented facilities and by shift teaching. Extra classrooms are being built and plans have been approved for a school which will be ready by 2010. The new school will be a combined primary and secondary school, which will accommodate 840 children. With the interventions in Swakopmund and Walvis Bay, the authorities are looking at having enough places for learners by 2012, which is when most of the mines go into operations. Although the school system would be in a better position than it is in currently, a substantial increase in numbers in 2013 would be difficult to accommodate (Awaseb, 2008, Pers. Com.).

3.5 Farming community

Closer to the Langer Heinrich Uranium Mine than either Swakopmund or Walvis Bay are a number of privately-owned farms. The distance of the farms from the Mine Lease Area ranges between 20 and 42 kilometres <u>as the crow flies.</u>

Some are guest farms, and so part of the tourism sector. All run livestock, some run game, all are fenced and all draw water from boreholes in the Swakop River. All the farms create employment, and the benefits of this are increased by the fact that employees families live with them on the farm.

The farmers are conscious of the necessity for eco-system conservation, and some of the farms have floral species as impressive as those in the Namib Park itself. These include quiver trees and giant welwitchias.

3.6 The Topnaar community

The Topnaaar community lives in scattered groups along the lower reaches of the Kuiseb River. As the crow flies, they are 80-100 distant from the Langer Heinrich Uranium Mine. The communities comprise approximately 1500 people. Of these, 800 reside along the Kuiseb River, while the rest have found employment in Walvis Bay and further afield.

Part of the settlements fall within the NNP, while the rest lie within the Walvis Bay townlands. This latter section includes the important lnara ⁶ fields, traditionally a source of food for the Topnaar, and now a source of income. The community's economic life is closely linked to Walvis Bay. The town is a supplier of goods, a market and a place of employment.

⁶ The !Nara plant is endemic to the central Namib Desert. The thorny melons provide some nutrition and income for the Topnaar who live along the Kuiseb River. The seeds, which are eaten as snacks, or from which the oil is extracted, provide some cash income. The important role that the !Nara used to play in cultural life and in family and clan structures has declined, as has its use as an important food source.

Livelihoods activities are harvesting the !nara fruits for sale, small livestock farming, particularly goats, small gardens, mainly for own use, and wage employment. Income from the latter, often by way of remittances, is an important source of cash in the community. There is also considerable reliance on state pensions.

Water is sourced from boreholes for some settlements, while others depend on piped water from NamWater. There is a primary school with a hostel, and a clinic. None of the settlements has electricity, and the nearest source of consumer goods and services is in Walvis Bay.

The possibility of extending livelihood activities and economic opportunities through tourism has been recognised. The Topnaars have a community-owned camping facility at Lauberville and a concession for a 4X4 route along the Kuiseb River. A professional trophy hunting concession in the NNP has been granted to the community, who is busy finalising an agreement with an operator. The first concession to build a lodge in the NNP was granted to the Gobabeb Institute in February 2009, and this could also benefit the Topnaar community through employment during construction, training and employment in hospitality and tour guiding and opportunities for service provision, including crafts for sale to tourists (Economist, 2009).

4 INTRODUCTION TO THE SOCIAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT REPORT

This Social Impact Assessment (SIA) forms part of the Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) commissioned by LHU for the Project. The assessment is guided, in particular, by the following:

- the objectives of the Draft Procedures and Guidelines for Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) and Environmental Management Plan (EMP) (GRN, 2008), which are to ensure:
 - that decisions makers are fully informed of the proposed activities, and accountable for their decisions,
 - that as many options and alternatives as possible to the current expansion plans are considered,
 - that all sectors of Namibian society who could be impacted by the mining operation, whether positively or negatively, are consulted and given the opportunity to participate in the EIA, and
 - that sustainable development, both inter- and intra-generationally, is promoted by ensuring that negative impacts are avoided or minimized and positive impacts are enhanced.
- the Constitution of Namibia (1990) in which the principles of sustainable development are implicit: the "State shall actively promote and maintain the welfare of the people by adopting policies aimed at the maintenance of ecosystems, essential ecological processes and biological diversity of Namibia, and utilisation of living natural resources on a sustainable basis for the benefits of all Namibians, both present and Future".
- the Equator Principles⁷, which, for the purposes of this project, require the SIA to address the following:
- assessment of baseline environmental and social conditions,
- requirements under host country laws and regulations, applicable international treaties and agreements,

⁷ The Equator Principles are a benchmark for the financial industry to manage social and environmental impacts arising through projects financed by participating financial institutions. For more information, see <u>www.equator-principles.com</u>

- protection of human health, protection of human rights and community health, safety and security (including risks, impacts and management of project's use of security personnel),
- use and management of dangerous substances,
- socioeconomic impacts,
- impacts on affected communities, and disadvantaged or vulnerable groups,
- cumulative impacts of existing projects, the proposed project, and anticipated future projects,
- consultation and participation of affected parties in the design, review and implementation of the project
- consideration of feasible environmentally and socially preferable alternatives.
- The Precautionary Principle is applied to all development projects that aspire to meet international best practice and which seek to minimise potential negative impacts on the environment and the communities. The Precautionary Principle states that the worst-case must be assumed for all impacts which cannot be assessed due to a lack of data.
- The International Finance Corporation's Performance Standards on Social & Environmental Sustainability, which stipulate that the objectives of an SIA are:
- to identify and assess social and environment impacts, both adverse and beneficial, in the project's area of influence,
- to avoid, or where avoidance is not possible, minimize, mitigate, or compensate for adverse impacts on workers, affected communities, and the environment,
- to ensure that affected communities are appropriately engaged on issues that could potentially affect them,
- to promote improved social and environmental performance of companies through the effective use of management systems (IFC 2006).
- •

4.1 The purpose and nature of an SIA

A project proponent has the obligation to ensure that parties who are interested in and/or could be affected by the proposed project are fully informed and consulted. This SIA addresses concerns raised by stakeholders during the concurrent Public Participation Process and the consultations for the SIA.

A SIA is undertaken before development activities start, and methodically examines the socioeconomic and cultural contexts of any community, institution, organisation or individuals that could be impacted by the proposed development. It identifies potential impacts, both negative and beneficial, and in so doing can influence the planning process by presenting project proponents with alternative development possibilities and a sound basis for their decisions.

An SIA cannot produce conclusive or empirical statements about the results of impacts. Impacts are identified and assessed against conditions in the receiving environment, which is not a static one, and

in terms of the future, which is always uncertain. Because a community consists of interlinked activities, trends, problems and circumstances, impacts cannot be assessed on a stand-alone basis. Mitigation of one negative impact very often depends on the mitigation of another, and potential benefits may possibly not be optimized because a negative baseline condition or future impact cannot be mitigated. The SIA will necessarily arrive at conclusions which will, to some degree, be subjective.

4.2 Terms of reference

This SIA has been conducted in accordance with the terms of reference, which require a study of the potential social and economic impacts of the proposed expansion project. The particular terms of reference were to:

- review existing social and economic data;
- interrogate the social and economic issues that were identified in the public participation process;
- interview relevant stakeholders;
- to assess the potential positive and negative cumulative social and/or economic impacts; and
- provide input, together with Metago, other specialists and LHU, into the management measures going forward.

5 METHODOLOGY

5.1 Introduction

Project planning meetings were conducted to ensure that the public participation process addressed the concerns of and included the stakeholders relevant to both the environmental and the socioeconomic assessments.

LHU provided <u>the</u> requested background literature, and gaps were addressed and information updated mainly by focus group and key informant meetings. Electronic and telephonic interviews were also conducted.

5.2 Identification, assessment and categorisation of expected impacts

The public participation process, stakeholder engagement, knowledge of the mining process and the literature surveys facilitated the identification of critical areas to be addressed. A consideration of the resources, capacity and resilience of the receiving environment to cope with potential negative aspects, or maximise potential benefits, made the identification of likely impacts possible. The following aspects influenced the identification of impacts:

- the socio-economic baseline conditions in the communities of interest,
- the historical reaction of communities to large-scale impacts,
- knowledge of the sustainability of communities,
- the national, regional and local developmental context of the communities,
- the capacity of major stakeholders,
- input from the public participation process,
- experiences of communities in similar contexts and with similar socio-economic profiles,, and
- professional opinion and experience. This aspect is open to subjectivity, and consultation and deliberation with the EIA team were undertaken to ensure that subjectivity was avoided to the greatest extent possible.

A standardised and internationally recognised methodology is applied to assess the significance of the potential socio-economic impacts of <u>the Project</u>.

PART A: DEFINITION AND CRITERIA (H - high M- medium and I - low and + denotes a positive impact								
Definition of SIGNIFICANCE Significance =				icance =	consequence x probability			
Definition of CONSEQUENCE				Consequence is a function of severity, spatial extent and duration				
Criteria for ranking of the H SEVERITY of environmental impacts			Subst often resou	Substantial deterioration (death, illness or injury). Recommended level will often be violated. Vigorous community action. Irreplaceable loss of resources.				
		М	Mode occas resou	rate/ mea sionally k irces.	asurable deterioratio pe violated. Wides	on (discomfort). Reco spread complaints.	mmended level will Noticeable loss of	
		L	Minor meas be vic	Minor deterioration (nuisance or minor deterioration). Change not measurable/ will remain in the current range. Recommended level will never be violated. Sporadic complaints. Limited loss of resources.				
		L+	Minor range	improve . Recom	ment. Change not mended level will ne	measurable/ will rer	nain in the current adic complaints.	
		M+	Mode level.	rate impi No obse	rovement. Will be rved reaction.	within or better than	the recommended	
		H+	Subst level.	tantial imp Favoura	provement. Will be v ble publicity.	vithin or better than the	e recommended	
Criteria for ran	king the	L	Quick	dy reversi	ble. Less than the p	roject life. Short term		
DURATION of in	npacts	М	Reve	rsible ove	r time. Life of the pr	oject. Medium term		
		Н	Perm	anent. Be	eyond closure. Long) term.		
Criteria for rar	king the	L	Local	ised - Wit	hin the site boundary	у.		
SPATIAL SC	ALE of	М	Fairly	Fairly widespread – Beyond the site boundary. Local				
impacts		Н	Widespread – Far beyond site boundary. Regional/ national					
			PART I	B: DETE	RMINING CONSEQ	UENCE		
				S	EVERITY = L			
DURATION	Long terr	n		Н	Medium	Medium	Medium	
Medium t		term		М	Low	Low	Medium	
	Short ter	m		L	Low	Low	Medium	
				SI	EVERITY = M			
DURATION	Long terr	Long term		Н	Medium	High	High	
	Medium	term		М	Medium	Medium	High	
	Short ter	m		L	Low	Medium	Medium	
	1			S	EVERITY = H			
DURATION	Long terr	Long term		Н	High	High	High	
	Medium	term		М	Medium	Medium	High	
	Short ter	m		L	Medium	Medium	High	
					L	М	Н	
				2	Localised	Fairly widespread	Widespread	
					Within site	Beyond site	Far beyond site	
					boundary	boundary	boundary Regional/ national	
F					Sile		riegionai/ national	
			PART	C. DETE	BMINING SIGNIFIC			
PROBABILITY Definite/ Continuous				H	Medium	Medium	High	
(of exposure to	Life to Possible/ frequent		ent	M	Medium	Medium	High	
impacts)	Unlikely/	seldor	<u>יייי</u> ו	1			Medium	
		55,001	•		1	M	H	
					<u> </u>			
	CONSEQUENCE							

Table 7: Rating Criteria for LHU's potential socio-economic impacts (Metago, 2009).

5.3 Assessment of the socio-economic impacts of LHU's current and proposed operations.

LH commenced production in 2007. The mine operates under the approvals of a mining licence (ML 140), an environmental impact assessment (EIA) and an environmental management plan (EMP).

Each assessed impact of the Project is preceded by an assessment of the socio-economic impacts of LHU's operations in Namibia to the date of this Report. The assessment is based on current available information: from websites, media releases, interviews with stakeholders and I&APs and information and documentation supplied by LHU staff in Namibia, including the company's Environmental Management Plan of 2008. A large part of the assessment will, by the nature of the impacts and the records relating to them, be qualitative, and some part of it will be based on the historic and generic impacts of mining operations.

The following abbreviations are used in this section: Con. (Construction), O (Operation), D (Decommissioning), Cl. (Closure).

5.3.1 Employment creation

The construction phase of a mining project is generally labour intensive, and usually employs more people than are required during the operational phase. The relatively large number of jobs created for the construction phase must be weighed against the temporary nature of the employment.

During the construction of the LHUM, 700 employment opportunities were created. The average employment rate during the second phase of construction was 250, and this peaked at approximately 1000. The Project will create a further 250 employment opportunities.

Most construction workers are already employed, and the Project will contribute to the stability and continuity of employment and will lead to the creation of additional employment during construction. In the current economic climate, this is a significant benefit of the Project.

LHU currently employs 200 permanent employees and 197 long-term contractors. For steady-state operating conditions a further 38 permanent employees and 48 contractors will be required. The dependency ratio in Namibia was estimated to be 8.8:18 in 2003. Dependency ratios as high as 30/40:1 have been reported in the northern labour-sending regions. The contribution to livelihoods of nearly 400 long-term jobs is therefore significant.

The multiplier effect magnifies the benefits of employment created by the development and expansion of the Langer Heinrich Uranium Mine. One job on the mine potentially results in several jobs in the secondary and tertiary sectors, and further employment is created and development stimulated.

Secondary industries and commercial enterprises will be needed to further meet the needs of the mine for contract services and the needs of consumers as more expendable cash becomes available in the towns. The need for additional housing and business premises will stimulate the building industry. These will all create further employment opportunities.

Unemployment levels in communities affected by LHU are high, and the majority of unemployed people are unskilled or have low-level skills. Jobs created by most modern mining operation are predominantly skilled and thus beyond the immediate reach of the majority of the unemployed in Erongo Region.

⁸ www.nationmaster.com/graph/hea_dep_rat_per_100-health-dependency-ratio-per-100 - 87k -

Impact 1: The construction phases of the Project will provide additional employment opportunities and development benefits.

Nature +In an environment of high unemployment and job uncertainty, substantial job creation has a positive impact.Severity =MThe opportunities for livelihoods and the enhancement of socio-economic conditions are noticeably increased, especially as every job created means livelihoods for a number of dependants. There will be a temporary improvement of the unemployment situation, and the severity of the impact is further limited by the fact that some of the workers employed during construction will already be in employment with the different contractors.Duration = LOnce the construction period is complete, the need for the construction workers employed on the Project will cease.Spatial scale = HEmployment will be created locally and regionally, and local economies	Rating	Comment
Severity =MThe opportunities for livelihoods and the enhancement of socio-economic conditions are noticeably increased, especially as every job created means livelihoods for a number of dependants. There will be a temporary improvement of the unemployment situation, and the severity of the impact is further limited by the fact that some of the workers employed during construction will already be in employment with the different contractors.Duration = LOnce the construction period is complete, the need for the construction workers employed on the Project will cease.Spatial scale = HEmployment will be created locally and regionally, and local economies	Nature +	In an environment of high unemployment <u>and job uncertainty</u> , substantial job creation has a positive impact.
Duration = LOnce the construction period is complete, the need for the construction workers employed on the Project will cease.Spatial scale = HEmployment will be created locally and regionally, and local economies	Severity =M	The opportunities for livelihoods and the enhancement of socio-economic conditions are noticeably increased, especially as every job created means livelihoods for a number of dependants. There will be a temporary improvement of the unemployment situation, and the severity of the impact is further limited by the fact that some of the workers employed during construction will already be in employment with the different contractors.
Spatial scale = H Employment will be created locally and regionally and local economies	Duration = L	Once the construction period is complete, the need for the construction workers employed on the Project will cease.
will benefit from an inflow of disposable cash. Remittances sent to labour- sending regions will provide livelihood necessities and those economies too, will benefit from an extra inflow of cash, albeit more limited than local inflow.	Spatial scale = H	Employment will be created locally and regionally, and local economies will benefit from an inflow of disposable cash. Remittances sent to labour- sending regions will provide livelihood necessities and those economies too, will benefit from an extra inflow of cash, albeit more limited than local inflow.
Phase = Con The impact will endure throughout the construction phase and will cease on commencement of operations.	Phase = Con	The impact will endure throughout the construction phase and will cease on commencement of operations.
Probability = H Additional employees will be needed during the construction phase.	Probability = H	Additional employees will be needed during the construction phase.
Consequence = M+	Consequence = M+	
Significance = L+	Significance = L+	

With appropriate intervention, the benefits of short-term employment can be increased.

Impact 2: The operational phase of the Project, will provide additional long-term employment opportunities with attendant development benefits to those already offered by current operations.

Rating	Comment		
Nature = +	Although fewer jobs will be created during the operational phase, they will be permanent and long-term.		
Severity = M+	The severity of current employment at LHU is high. For Phase 3 the severity will be moderate as considerably less numbers of employment opportunities will be offered. Livelihoods security will be advanced, and opportunities will be created for training and advancement in the workplace. There has been a marked impact on the surrounding economies through direct cash injection and the growth of service industries and this impact will continue noticeably. The impact on local authorities will be limited by the smaller number of new employees who will require accommodation and the office infrastructure that LHU has already in place.		
Duration = H	Potentially the benefits could last beyond mine closure, even though employment numbers will decrease progressively during decommissioning and closure.		
Spatial Scale = H	As for employment creation during construction, the benefits of employment during the operational phase will be experienced locally, regionally and nationally.		
Phase = O,D, CI,			
Probability = H	The Project will require additional employment.		
Consequence = H+			
Significance = H+			

With appropriate intervention, the benefits of employment can be increased.

5.3.2 Local economies

Individual mines, particularly modern and technologically advanced ones, are no longer as labourintensive as they used to be. However, they are still significant drivers of economies beyond the mine site. The multiplier effects of payments benefitting employees, and payments to regional and national suppliers, extend the economic benefits significantly. The wages that workers spend stimulate the local economy, including that of the local authority. LHU workers send remittances to dependants in labour-sending areas, which are often underdeveloped. These remittances contribute to poverty alleviation and provide access to education, health care and the maintenance of agricultural activities.

Payment to local and national suppliers stimulates economic activity and creates employment in nonmining sectors.

Information provided by LHU states that, currently 66% of LHU's service providers and suppliers are Namibian. Of this percentage, 75% is from Erongo Region.

It was not possible to estimate the amount by which the local authority's revenue base increased, as it is not known how many of LHU's employees are homeowners or tenants, and whether they live in formal or informal accommodation. Nonetheless, it can reasonably be assumed that a significant percentage of employees pay for services from local authorities. LHU pays for services to its corporate offices in Swakopmund. Impact 3: Local and regional economies will be positively impacted by increased spending of the workforce and to meet the needs of LHU's expanded operations.

Rating	Comment
Nature +	
Severity = M+	Opportunities for increased employment in non-mining sectors will be created by the increased service and supply requirements of the <u>Project</u> , and to a more limited extent, the increased cash available as a result of the expanded workforce.
Duration = H	The impact will last through all phases, but the benefits will decrease with decommissioning and closure as the need for a large workforce and large-scale service provision and supplies scales down.
Spatial Scale = M	The major benefits will be experienced in Swakopmund and Walvis Bay
Phase = All	
Probability = H	The probability of the impact occurring is high. Service payments to local authorities and the purchase of everyday necessities are not optional. LHU will, as in the past, source its additional supplies and services from local service providers and suppliers as far as possible
Consequence = H+	
Significance = M+	

The impact can be optimised by a continued and increased support for local service provision and suppliers.

5.3.3 Infrastructure⁹

A significant increase in economic activity inevitably places greater demands on infrastructure. Where a large development project, such as the Langer Heinrich Uranium Mine, shares infrastructure with other users and consumers, this may impact on the use and/or availability of infrastructure to the general public. Water, energy and transport routes are the shared infrastructure services considered in this section. Road use is the transport method which is of most concern to stakeholders and I&APs interviewed for this Report.

Traffic

Three public roads are subject to significant use for the purposes of the Langer Heinrich Uranium Mine. These are shown on Figure 5.

- Access to the C28, the NNP, Windhoek and Langer Heinrich leads off the B2 approximately 6 kms from Swakopmund. The access road to the mine site branches off the C28, about 50km from Swakopmund.
- The C34 branches off the C28 and follows a route behind the dunes to join the C14 leading to Walvis Bay. This is the approach and return route to and from Walvis Bay for both commuter buses and service providers to the Langer Heinrich Uranium Mine.

⁹ IFC Performance Standard No. 1 (5) (6)



Figure 5: Main roads used for the purposes of Langer Heinrich Uranium Mine

Two of LHU's major transport carriers were interviewed for the purpose of this Report.

- Sunshine Tours, based in Swakopmund, undertakes the commuter transport for LHU and some of the company's contractors. Commuters in Swakopmund and Walvis Bay use this service.
- Wesbank Transport, based in Walvis Bay, is the main transport contractor doing normal, abnormal and chemicals tanker deliveries to LHU.

LHU provided information on other transport to and from the mine site, and this has been taken into consideration when estimating the company's road use.

Estimated road use by scheduled service providers to LHU at the time of this Report was:

- Commuter bus traffic (Sunshine Tours) from Swakopmund, using the C28 daily average one-way journeys over one week 24
- Commuter traffic from Walvis Bay (Sunshine Tours) using the C34 (on to the C28) daily average one-way journeys over one week – 6
- Wesbank Transport from Walvis Bay, (C34 and C28) a weekly average of 100 one-way trips. The company also uses a limited number of LDVs for maintenance and special requirements.
- Light delivery vehicles from Swakopmund daily average one-way journeys over one week (five-day week assumed) – 10
- Heavy duty trucks from Walvis Bay (C34 and C28) 16 trips a week (six-day week assumed)
- Light delivery vehicles from Walvis Bay (C34 and C28) daily average one-way journeys over one week (five-day week assumed) – 12 trips

(LHU, 2009, van Rooyen 2009, Pers. Comm, du Plessis 2009, Pers. Comm)

Light delivery vehicles using the roads at greater intervals – once a fortnight, month or quarter – are not reflected here.

There is expected to be an increase in this traffic for the Project. Traffic during construction is heavier than during the operational phase.

Neither the C28 nor the C34 were built for tarring or for heavy traffic. The C34 was originally built as a gravel road, and was recently converted to a salt-wearing road to divert heavy traffic from the B2 between Walvis Bay and Swakopmund. A recent report, based on information from the Roads Authority, concluded that the road is attracting traffic (Ninham Shand 2009), but there is no historic data to indicate to what extent an increase is due to traffic to Langer Heinrich Uranium Mine. There are apparently no immediate plans to convert this road to a tar road. A spokesperson for the Roads Authority stated that a decision to do so would depend on needs and traffic. If the road users consult the authority and inform them of their anticipated road use, consideration could be given to tarring, but this would need support from all stakeholders (Uiseb, Pers. Com. 2008).

Both Wesbank Transport and Sunshine Tours use the C34 in providing services to LHU. All vehicles used for transport have speed control mechanisms, either through satellite tracking, governors and/or speed recording on the vehicle, which is monitored at the base stations. All drivers undergo continual training. Sunshine Tours' drivers have to undergo medical check-ups every six months. The speed limit for all commuter and transport vehicles on all roads is 100 kph. Wesbank Transport has its own weighbridge, and LHU is installing a weighbridge on site.

The C28 is a gravel road, intended primarily for use by tourists. In the last few years it has increasingly been used for mining activities in the park, with this usage escalating as exploration by a number of mining companies increases. The condition of this road is also the main reason for the concerns of I&APs.

The C28 is a national road and maintenance can only be done by the Roads Authority. LHU provides funding for maintenance and/or upgrading on it, and the company has funded "dust free" strips along the section from the start of the C28 to the LHU access road, The Company funded the upgrading to the extent of N\$ 10 million over the last three years. Currently there are eight strips of approximately 2 kilometres each. The company is now funding the tarring of the section from the first pump station to the LHU access road.

The spokesperson for the RA commented that LHU should have started tarring from the turn-off from the B2, and the spokesperson for Wesbank Transport also said that the poor condition of this section presented the company with problems (van Rooyen, Pers. Comm. 2009).

Stakeholders commented extensively on the condition of the roads and the implications for other road users.

- Road conditions on the C28 are particularly dangerous for drivers who are not familiar with the nature of Namibian gravel roads.
- Concern was expressed that hazardous material, fuel and sewage was being transported on poor roads.¹⁰
- Speeding is dangerous on C28's road surface. No problems were expressed with the commuter buses, but smaller vehicles travelling to Langer Heinrich mine site are reportedly travelling at excessive speeds. No information was available on measures to ensure safe driving by small and individual service providers.
- Dust affects visibility and makes it difficult to overtake and to see obstacles, such as game, on the road. No road spraying is undertaken to mitigate the dust generated by construction on the C28. Comments were also received about excessive dust caused by buses travelling too close to each other, which nullifies the benefits of the dust-free strips.
- Loose gravel damages vehicles, and two I&APs commented that they regularly had to replace windscreens as a result of flying gravel caused by other vehicles.
- With no return loads, vehicles are exposed to severe vibration and require more service attention.

¹⁰ IFC Performance Standard No. 4 (7)

- Vehicles collect dust and corrosive material. They require daily high pressure washing which aggravates maintenance and devaluation.
- Three road kills involving LHU vehicles have been reported. Road-kills are ascribed to dust, night driving and speeding (LHU, 2009).
- The Roads Authority and their sub-contractors do not clean up when they have been working on the road. Poor environmental control results in damage to flora. An informant to this Report commented that there could well be a lack of environmental awareness in the labour force working on the roads.
- The RA commented that, as a result of the increased road-use by heavy traffic servicing the number of mining operations, it cannot keep up with the normal maintenance on the C28. It takes three days for the bladers to grade the road, and on the third day the road has already started deteriorating at the start.
- The RA undertakes normal grading, not maintenance, on the C34. Maintenance is subcontracted, and the last contract expired in January 2009. This had not been renewed at the time of this Report.

(Pers Comms 2009. Beytell B, van Rooyen M, du Plessis J, Berry, H & Braby R, Uiseb,V, Solomon R, Leippert M)

Impact 4: Current and future road use by LHU for conveying its workforce to the mine site, and by service providers to LH, could impact on the safety of LHU personnel and on the safety and enjoyment of the roads by other road users.

Rating	Comment
Nature -	
Severity = H	There is a possibility of injury or death to people and game and damage to vehicles. The severity is increased by the number of people on the commuter buses, which means that a bus accident could lead to multiple injuries and/or fatalities. The potential will increase with the increased road use that will occur, particularly with construction, in the near future.
Duration = M	There will be a decrease in the amount of road traffic once construction is complete, but the impact will only cease finally on closure.
Spatial Scale = H	With the exception of the mine access road, the roads the roads that are used for LHUs' requirements are also used for transport and travel on a regional basis – by tourists, commuters, other mining companies and industries in Walvis Bay. Walvis Bay is the start of the Walvis Bay Corridor and the Trans-Kalahari Highway.
Phase = All	The impact will decrease with decommissioning and closure, and will then cease
Probability = H	Road and driving conditions increase the risk of road accidents. From Swakopmund to the turn-off from the B2, mist is a frequent occurrence and decreases visibility. Further hazards are sand blowing across the road on the C34 and dust on the C28. These conditions make overtaking difficult, in addition to which both the C34 and the C28 have seriously deteriorated in places. On the C28 game crosses the road, or grazes at the side. There have been three road-kills by vehicles on LHU business on the C28. No other routes are available for the purposes of the LHUM.
Consequence = H	

Significance = H

With appropriate intervention, this impact can be mitigated, but it cannot be reversed.

Water

LHU's water consumption and water management is a cross-cutting issue. The Specialist Report has been undertaken for the EIA, and it addresses water issues comprehensively. That Report forms part of the Environmental Impact Assessment Report.

Energy

LHU's current maximum demand is 17 MW. A further 5 MW will be required for the Project. NamPower is in a position to supply this from the national grid. LHU currently has 10 MW on-site generation capacity installed, and this could be increased by a further 20MW in terms of on-site generation approval.

The following is a summary description of the current and predicted future situation with regard to electricity capacity, consumption and demand in Namibia.

Total requirement forecast for year 2010	+-600 MW
Absolute maximum internal generating capacity	+-392 MW
Hwange	150 MW
From South Africa	+-80 MW
Available capacity	+-622 MW
Potential options for sourcing additional energy	
Caprivi link	75 MW
Ruacana 4 th Turbine-Generator	35 MW
Paratus	10 MW
Total from potential external sources	120 MW

The potential sources listed above are those that recent information indicated were the most likely to proceed in the short-medium term. There are a number of other potential options for boosting Namibia's internal capacity, but it was not possible to access information on progress towards implementing these options. They include the Orange River Hydro (100 MW), Kudu Gas (450-800 MW) and Walvis Bay Coal (200-800 MW).

South Africa is Namibia's major supplier of energy, and that country is currently experiencing a decrease in demand as a result of the global economic crisis. The possibility of South Africa reducing its energy exports to Namibia is therefore in abeyance.

According to the above scenario, the additional 5 MW that LHU will require for the <u>Project</u> will not impact on the availability of electricity to other consumers.

5.3.4 Inward migration

Inward migration is a global phenomenon associated with significant economic development projects. In a context such as that of Erongo, it is not possible to access data on the degree to which any one project has resulted in inward migration. This is a cumulative impact resulting from more than just mining activity. Nonetheless, it is incumbent on individual developers to ensure that they mitigate, within their own sphere of influence, the social ills that accompany inward migration. These include poor housing, the spread of HIV/AIDS and TB, alcohol and substance abuse, commercial sex and domestic violence.

In Namibia there is a misalignment between employment opportunities and population density. Most people live in the north, whereas most job opportunities arise in the central and coastal regions. Combined with the high unemployment rate, this mismatch leads to a significant degree of economic migration in the country. Walvis Bay and Swakopmund are two of the main destinations for work-seekers. They are lured by the perceived opportunity for employment in the fishing industry, the growing uranium sector and the significant number of large-scale development projects which have been proposed for the region.

No particular development project can be identified as the cause of the large-scale in-migration that occurs in Erongo. Inward migration commenced before LHU operations commenced, but, in all likelihood, the announcement of commencement of activities by LHU did create further perceptions of employment opportunities, and did add to the number of people migrating to the coast in search of jobs.

Impact 5: The perceived job opportunities offered by <u>the Project</u> will lead to further inward migration of work seekers to Erongo Region.

Ranking	Comments		
Nature = negative	The impact is negative and cumulative. Inward migration of unemployed people increases local unemployment and the number of people living in inadequate, unsafe and unhealthy accommodation. Poverty, ill-health and social ills also increase, and greater demands are made on the resources of local and regional authorities and service providers.		
Severity = M	The severity is moderate. Living conditions for some people will decline, and there will be additional demands on service providers. The local unemployment rate will increase and poverty levels will increase.		
Duration = H	There are few legal instruments for controlling migration and settlement in Namibia. Experience in other mining towns, such as Rosh Pinah, has indicated that migrants will move to new mining developments and, in the absence of other pull factors, do not easily move on. Informal settlements are thus essentially permanent.		
Spatial Scale = H	The impact will be felt locally and regionally. Resources which are needed for development in remote areas, such as health and education services, could be diverted to meet the needs of indigent settlers in the urban centres.		
Phase = Construction and Operation	The impact has already commenced and will continue through construction and operation, essentially for as long as there is a perceived possibility of employment.		
Probability = H	Inward migration as a result of mining activity has already commenced, and historical precedents, indicate that the impact is definite.		
Consequence = H			
Significance = H			

This impact will be difficult to mitigate, and it will not be reversed.

5.3.5 Public consultation and disclosure¹¹.

The term "stakeholder engagement" no longer refers to a process conducted during an EIA process, and between appointed consultants on the one hand, and stakeholders and I,&APs on the other. In most countries, public consultation around EIAs and EMPs is a regulatory requirement, and this type of consultation falls outside the scope of this discussion.

The term "Public consultation and disclosure" indicates an activity which is a "broader, more inclusive and continuous process between a company and those potentially impacted that encompasses a range of activities and approaches, and spans the entire life of a project" (IFC, 2007). IFC requirements in this regard are comprehensive, and include a process that is inclusive (with emphasis on marginalised groups), comprehensive, transparent, accessible and appropriate to the communities within which it is conducted.

(IFC 2007)

The advantages for a company of transparent, proactive and appropriate consultation and engagement include

- the opportunity to establish a positive presence within the stakeholder community,
- the opportunity to influence public perception of the company,

¹¹ IFC Permance Standard No. 1 (19ff)

- safeguarding its social licence to operate,
- ensuring that a lack of information does not lead to misinformation, and
- engendering trust in the company from the society within which it operates.

For stakeholders, the process:

- makes knowledge available about events that could affect them,
- gives them an opportunity to provide input into a development project, so potentially having a say in the design and operation of the project and assisting the company to avoid or mitigate negative impacts, and
- provides a mechanism for expressing their grievances and having these addressed.

A stakeholder engagement process is a long-term business function, and should be based on an appropriate and clear strategy which sets out objectives, time frames, roles and responsibilities and budget.

In the 2008 EMP, LHU makes a commitment to inform stakeholders of aspects of its activities which are of great interest to the public. These include resource use, waste management and biodiversity. The programme for community communication management as envisaged in the 2008 EMP has not yet been initiated (LHU, 2008. Section 9.3). Public consultation for this Report indicates that LHU does not undertake comprehensive and inclusive consultation and information disclosure in its communities of interest. Stakeholders commented that a lack of information:

- makes their own planning difficult,
- increases their concern about unaddressed issues, and
- leaves them feeling helpless in the face of developments which seem to ignore their concerns and about which they were not consulted.

The majority of stakeholder representatives interviewed for this report stated that the company had not been in touch with them.

LHU has in place a Communication Procedure which deals with corporate communication and, extensively, with internal communication. This latter aspect is important for the purposes of this Report as employees are also community members, and communicate information about the company to their community. However, this is not a sufficient channel of communication with communities, nor does it allow for the development of a partnership between them and the company.

The Company did, briefly, conduct public meetings, but these were not well attended and so were discontinued. The information presented on the Paladin Energy Ltd website is largely technical in nature and would be inaccessible to many community members. It is questionable whether either of these two communication methods is appropriate for public consultation and disclosure in a developing country.

Impact 6: The lack of a formal and appropriate public consultation and disclosure strategy could impact negatively on the company, its communities of interest and on potential partnerships between them.

Rating	Comment
Nature -	The impact is negative for both LHU and its communities of interest.
Severity = M	Numerous complaints have been received about a lack of engagement, and there is, in general, a low-level negative perception of the company as a result of this.
Duration = M	Without mitigation, the impact will be felt through all phases of the life-of- mine.
Spatial Scale = M	The impact extends through the region, and is mainly experienced in the four communities of interest discussed in Section 3.4.
Phase = All	
Probability = H	The impact is currently operative, and without mitigation will continue to be so.
Consequence M	
Significance = M	

With appropriate intervention, this impact can be reversed and become a positive one.

5.3.6 Employee well-being and workplace policies¹²

Workplace policies are designed to give direction to management, who implements them, and to all employees – the beneficiaries of these programmes – by establishing consistent work standards, rules and regulations. These policies further ensure the company's compliance with governmental policies and are an important part of the company's risk management strategy. Sound policies, properly implemented, ensure employee well-being within the operations of the company and signify a company's commitment to good corporate governance and a culture of human rights in the workplace.

The specific policies requested for this Report relate to employee well-being in and out of the workplace, and also the extent to which relevant company policies are extended to surrounding communities. Policies related to SHER (Safety, Health, Environment and Radiation) were not reviewed for this Report.

Affirmative Action and Sexual Discrimination policies are established, but most of documents provided were procedures, not policies. Procedures provided were for Maternity Leave, Part-time Study Assistance, Communication, Employment and Induction. LHU has yet to establish most of its policies in regard to employee well-being. In the absence of a representative for organised labour, it was not possible to establish whether this had impacted on the workforce. Some of these procedures, such as those for internal communication and workforce induction, are comprehensive.

Further information was provided on some aspects:

• Health: no HIV/AIDS policy or procedure has been established. Peer educators have been trained through the Chamber of Mines' Occupational Health, Education and Awareness Programme and an HIIV/AIDS Committee is in place. One of the LHU representatives received the award for the OHEAP educator of the year (2008), and a talk on leadership in the world of HIV/Aids was presented at a local school.

¹² IFC Performance Standard 2

No condoms are provided in the workplace. The company has not considered including TB in its health policies.

- Freedom of Association the company feels that its current interaction with employees is satisfactory, and that there is no perceived need for such a policy. Langer Heinrich is committed to ensuring that all employees are paid at or above the 75 percentile in Namibia. The company participates in national salary surveys for specific job categories, and after each survey completes an assessment to ensure that salaries are aligned with the strategy that has been established.
- The company has a procedure to support part-time study for seven permanent employees annually. Currently two Namibians are enrolled in an Executive Development Program at Stellenbosch University in preparation for potential General Manager Positions.
- The company does not currently have a bursary scheme, and is finalising a scheme to provide assistance to NIMT students.
- All employees must join the company's provident fund to which LHU pays 12% of total costs. All employees must further belong to the company's chosen medical aid unless they prove that they belong to another fund. The company's contributions to these, and to housing, are included in the "total cost to company" which is the package offered to the employee. Employees are free to live where they choose.
- <u>95</u>% of LHU's employees are Namibian citizens. 20% of the workforce is female, 74% are previously disadvantaged Namibians, and the latter constitute 32% of management.
- The company has an employee share option scheme in terms of which all long-term employees receive share options which enable them to participate in Company ownership.

(LHU, 2009)

Impact 7: A lack of sound, comprehensive and clear policies could impact on the well-being of LHU's employees, workplace relations and the company's reputation for good governance.

Rating	Comment		
Nature -	The impact is negative for both LHU and its workforce.		
Severity = M	The lack of policies could cause tensions in the workplace, impact on the relationship between LHU and the workforce and negatively affect LHU's public image.		
Duration = M/H	The duration is moderate and can be reversed over time. However, there could be long-term effects from a failure to establish health policies, procedures and programmes. The opportunity to skill the workforce for other employment, or for advancement in the workplace, could also be lost, to the detriment of the employee.		
Spatial Scale = M	The benefits of the policies contemplated in this section extend beyond the workplace and affect the employees in their role as the members of a family and a community. The benefits of some of these policies, such as health, should also extend into LHU's communities of interest.		
Phase = All	Without mitigation the potential for this impact to occur is present throughout the life-of-mine and into decommissioning and closure.		
Probability = M	The probability of the impact occurring is moderate and there are a number of ways in which it could manifest itself.		
Consequence = M			
Significance = M			

With appropriate intervention, this impact can be reversed and become a positive one.

5.3.7 Corporate Social Investment and Community Development

Corporate Social Investment (CSI) is an integral and essential part of good corporate citizenship and corporate social responsibility. CSI activities are external to the business, focus on developmental objectives and are undertaken for the purpose of uplifting and empowering communities. They are not primarily undertaken as public relations or marketing initiatives, although positive benefits with regard to public image usually result.

CSI initiatives are undertaken voluntarily by a company, and are distinct from the compulsory taxes and royalties paid to the central fiscus. They are also distinct from the provision and upgrading of infrastructure which is undertaken for the purpose of efficient operation.

In some countries, such as South Africa, CSI is legislated, but many companies go beyond compliance in their CSI activities. CSI is not restricted to developing contexts only, but is widely practiced globally by mining companies.

Ideally, the contribution that private sector development makes to central government would be sufficient for the eradication of poverty and underdevelopment. This is not the case in developing countries, where the extent of development required far exceeds the resources of the state. In Namibia, poverty, underdevelopment and a lack of access to services has resulted in economic migration, with the largest proportion of migrants moving to Erongo and, in particular to the coastal towns. The growing number of urban poor becomes the responsibility of local authorities whose resources to assist them are also constrained.

In the Namibian context, CSI can play a significant role in reversing the historical disadvantages which deny significant numbers of the population, sometimes whole communities, access to economic and livelihood opportunities. LHU's communities of interest include large proportions of disadvantaged and disempowered members. Responsible companies regard it as their duty to initiate or support projects that benefit such people. This is especially true when companies exploit the natural resources of a country and have an impact on the potential for future livelihoods. One of the informants to this Report commented: General conditions should improve, not deteriorate. (Geldenhuys 2009, Pers. Comm.)

The critical social and developmental issues facing Namibia have been identified in numerous documents, the most important being NDP3 and the Millennium Development Goals. Together with these, regional and local development plans also indicate where assistance would have the greatest impact. LHU's current estimate of life-of-mine is twenty-five years. This is time enough to make a meaningful contribution to development in its communities, and in Namibia.

In the 2008 EMP (LHU, 2008), LHU identifies social upliftment as one of the positive impacts of its mining activities., but no management system is indicated to achieve this. From a review of the company's social spend, it is difficult to establish what the company's vision is, or whether it has one. Funding appears to be provided on an *ad hoc* basis, some of it to the already-privileged, some of it to the destitute. For the period 2007-2009 the company provided details of funding amounting to N\$ 1 765 000, although press reports indicate that this figure does not include all the company's donations and sponsorships. The company spokesperson also commented that, as LHU was not yet making a profit, it was not in a position to make substantial social investments. This makes it all the more important that CSI initiatives are undertaken in terms of a strategic plan which promotes CSI in areas where it can have the most impact, and which allows for expansion of the programme as more funding becomes available. The social component of sustainable development carries as much

weight as the other three components of the paradigm, and becomes particularly important in a developing country context.

Impact 8: A commitment to strategic corporate social investment which promotes community development will reflect positively on LHU's reputation for good corporate governance and citizenship, and will provide benefits for LHU's communities of interest.

Ranking	Comment		
Positive	The impact will have positive impacts for LHU and its communities of interest.		
Severity = L+	As LHU's uranium mine is not yet making a profit, the impact will be of low severity		
Duration= H+	This impact will continue through life-of-mine and the benefits will be experienced well after closure.		
Spatial Scale = M	While dependants in labour-sending areas will benefit, the primary area of impact will be on LHU's communities of interest in Erongo Region		
Phase = All	Community development is not a once-off activity, but one that commences with construction and continues through to closure.		
Probability = M			
Consequence = M+			
Significance = H+			

The Social Management Plan will provide recommendations to optimise this impact.

5.3.8 Tourism

Section 3.3.4 discusses the importance of tourism in the Namibian economy. It is viewed as particularly important for the creation of employment and livelihoods opportunities. The section also discusses the vulnerability of the resource base on which tourism in Namibia, and particularly Erongo, is largely based.

Langer Heinrich Uranium Mine is situated in the Namib Naukluft Park, an iconic feature of Namibian tourism, one of the country's most popular tourist destinations and rich in biodiversity and sites of cultural and historic significance. The continued and potential contribution of the NNP to the economy of Namibia, job creation and livelihoods, depends on the preservation of the unique appeal of its desert and wilderness landscapes. These benefits are sustainable, and will provide employment and livelihoods for generations in the distant future if they are protected from the impacts of both industrialisation and uncontrolled tourist activities.

Langer Heinrich Uranium Mine is accessed from the C28, a major tourist route and also an access route to some of the major sites of interest in the NNP. The access road to the mine leads off the C28 to the mine site, which lies behind Bloedkopje, and so is not visible from the C28.

A constraint on assessing this impact is that no baseline information on tourist activity in the area is available, neither for the number of tourists nor the value attributed to it by visitors. However, the precautionary principle requires that a lack of quantitative data is not used as a basis for assuming that no impacts have occurred. Input was requested from people with experience and expertise in the NNP and in tourism, and included tour operators (both niche and large-scale), environmentalists and regulators. The following concerns were raised with regard to the impact of the current operations on tourism:

• The circular route round Bloedkopje had been a favourite 4X4 route of tourists and this is now closed to them. A spokesperson for the MET stated that, in all likelihood, the road would stay closed after closure

(Beytell, 2009. Pers Comm).

- Tourists who climb Bloedkopje now view a mine site instead of the valley along the Swakop River. <u>The Project</u> is likely to intensify this impact. There is noise pollution at Bloedkopje and Tinkas, which disturbs the previous peace of the campsites. Noise is also heard at Ganab, particularly in summer when the wind blows mainly in a north/north-west direction. (Berry & Braby, 2009, Pers. Comm.) Currently this is described as "remote noise", but concerns have been expressed that noise may become more intrusive with the increase in mining activities.
- The C28 is a favoured route between Swakopmund and Sossusvlei for both large tour groups and self-drive tourists. The road-use environment discussed in Section 4.3.2 is also operative in this impact, particularly for tourists who are not used to Namibian road conditions. The way people experience the road environment is part of their enjoyment of a particular place. Expectations are of a relaxed drive which encourages appreciation of the wildlife and the landscapes. This is not possible currently, as the section of the C28 between the turn-off from the B2 and the access road to the mine is fraught with by-passes, dust, loose gravel and heavy traffic. Infrastructure, borrow pits and heavy equipment transform a wilderness experience into a drive through a construction site and the desert sense of place is lost. The impacts which are solely related to the current road construction phase (by-passes, heavy construction equipment, borrow pits) will cease on completion of the road construction. However, many of the impacts discussed in Section 5.3.3 will remain, and some of them, such as speeding, may intensify. Heavy-duty traffic will also increase during the construction period of the project, which is expected to last for twelve months.

A spokesperson for the MET office at Ganab stated that there had not been a decline in tourism in the NNP, but rather an increase. His statement was based on permit sales at Swakopmund and Walvis Bay and are therefore not conclusive, as permits are also sold in Windhoek and at Sesriem, and the numbers are not collated (Gariseb 2009, Pers Comm).

Ranking	Comment
Negative	
Severity = M	There will be a measurable deterioration of the particular aspects that make the NNP unique. Complaints are already being aired about the mine's activities, and these will increase as mining activities do.
Duration= M/H	Heightened activity, particularly on the C28, will manifest during the construction phase. After that the disruption of the wilderness experience will continue throughout the life-of-mine.
Spatial Scale = H	The economic impact will be felt by the local and national tourism sector.
Phase = All	
Probability = H	The impacts of current operations indicate that $\underline{\text{the Project}}$ will intensify such impacts
Consequence = H	

Impact 9: The Project will impact on the enjoyment of the NNP by tourists and will decrease the value of the park as a source of tourist income, job creation and livelihood opportunities.

Socio-Economic Baseline and Social Impact Assessment for Langer Heinrich Uranium (Pty) Ltd. M Hoadley. June 2009

Significance = H

This impact cannot be avoided, but its significance can be reduced to medium if appropriate management plans are enacted.

6 CUMULATIVE IMPACTS

A cumulative socio-economic impact is an impact which:

- occurs in a receiving environment which is experiencing, has experienced, or may foreseeably experience similar impacts in the future,
- where there is the potential for synergistic interaction between impacts (i.e. the net impact is greater than the sum of the component impacts), and/or
- where economic or social thresholds may be breached by a number of consecutive or simultaneous impacts, which individually may have not have resulted in impacts.

This Report only identifies and assesses the potential impacts of the Project and proposes mitigation measures for those. However, with the proliferation of uranium mines in Erongo, and potentially in the NNP, it is no longer feasible to manage social impacts in isolation. In this assessment, all the impacts, with the exception of Nos. 6, 7 and 8 are, or may become cumulative impacts. This can change the rating of impacts of individual mines significantly. A few examples illustrate this:

- Traffic on the B2, the C34 and the C28 has not only increased as a result of LHU's activities. Significant traffic services the companies currently doing exploration in the NNP. Rössing Uranium has indicated that, should the company's expansion plans proceed, it will consider using the C34 for heavy duty transport to the mine site (Schneeweiss 2009. Pers Comm). When the cumulative impact is assessed, the rating of Impact No 4 would change and the impact would be more severe. Concerns were also expressed about the impact of increased use of the B2 from Swakopmund. Increasingly trucks and commuter buses will be using this road, where driving conditions, due to frequent mist, are already hazardous.
- Bannerman is proposing that its plant be located between the D1991 and C28 and be accessed from the C28. This will change the impacts on tourism and traffic identified in respect of LHU's activities, and increase their severity (Bannerman, 2008).
- Further public access roads may be closed, notably the D1991 which will limit access to the Moon Landscape and the Welwitchia Plains, both sites of great tourism value.

Additional infrastructure is envisaged, including water pipelines and new access roads.

The benefits of positive impacts, such as local economic development and employment, are magnified with the requirements of an increasing number of mining companies. However, these need to be managed with mine closure in mind, as the withdrawal in relatively quick succession of financial inputs related to mining could impact seriously on local authorities, service providers and commercial and industrial sectors. Unemployment too, could rise dramatically as the need for large workforces decreases.

The MME has commissioned a comprehensive Strategic Environmental Assessment of uranium mining in the Erongo Region, and the study will also address socio-economic impacts. It is anticipated that the study will present recommendations for co-operative management of these impacts.

LHU should use its position in the Uranium Stewardship Committee to ensure that the cumulative social impacts are addressed co-operatively and that social impacts are recognised as the most significant impacts of mine closure and addressed as such.

7 CONCLUSION – SIGNIFICANCE BEFORE AND AFTER INTERVENTION

Cumulative impacts, whether current or potential, affect the confidence with which an assessment of the significance of impacts before and after interventions can be made. The interventions of one mining company, such as LHU, cannot mitigate impacts which are the result of a number of operations. Benefits, too, require an alignment of the initiatives of all role players in order to be successfully optimised and managed.

Significance of social impacts before and after intervention.

Potential Impact	Impact environment	Significance before intervention	Significance after intervention
The construction phases of <u>the</u> <u>Project</u> will provide employment opportunities and development benefits.	Employment creation – construction	Low positive	Moderate positive
The operational phase of <u>the Project</u> will provide long-term employment opportunities and development benefits.	Employment creation – operation	High positive	High positive
Local and regional economies will be positively impacted by increased spending of the workforce and to meet the needs of LHU's expanded operations.	Local economic development	Moderate positive	High positive
Current and future road use by LHU for conveying its workforce to the mine site, and by service providers to LH, could impact on the safety of LHU personnel and on the safety and enjoyment of the roads by other road users.	Infrastructure – road use	High Negative	Moderate negative
The perceived job opportunities offered by <u>the Project</u> will lead to further inward migration of work seekers to Erongo Region.	Inward migration	High negative	High negative
The lack of a formal and appropriate public consultation and engagement strategy could impact negatively on the company, its communities of interest and on potential partnerships between them.	Stakeholder Engagement	Moderate negative	High positive
A lack of sound, comprehensive and clear workplace policies could impact on the well-being of LHU's employees, workplace relations and the company's reputation for good governance.	Workplace	Moderate negative	Moderate positive
A commitment to strategic corporate social investment which promotes community development will reflect positively on LHU's reputation for good corporate governance and citizenship, and will provide benefits for LHU's communities of interest and for development in Namibia.	Community Development	Moderate positive	High positive
The Project will impact on the enjoyment of the NNP by tourists and will decrease the value of the park as a source of tourist income, job creation and livelihood opportunities.	Tourism	Moderate negative	Moderate negative

Socio-Economic Baseline and Social Impact Assessment for Langer Heinrich Uranium (Pty) Ltd. M Hoadley. June 2009

8 REFERENCES

Bannerman Mining Resources Namibia (Pty) Ltd, Scoping Report. Social and Environmental Impact Assessment of the Proposed Uranium Mine 'Etango Project' near Swakopmund. September 2008

BayNews, July 2008. www.walvisbaycc.org.na.

Central Intelligence Agency: The World Factbook, Namibia 2008.

https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/print/wa.html

ERC 2007. Erongo Regional Council, 2007. http://www.erc.com.na/ Accessed July 2008

GPT, 2008. Geo Pollution Technologies Pty. Ltd. 2008. Environmental Impact Assessment for a Proposed Bulk Fuel Storage Facility for Namcor. Walvis Bay – Namibia

GRN 1998. The Constitution of the Republic of Namibia 1990 (as amended to December 24, 1998) <u>http://www.npc.gov.na/</u> Accessed May 2009

GRN 2004 Namibia Vision 2030. Policy Framework for Long-term National Development. <u>http://www.npc.gov.na/</u> Accessed May 2009

GRN 2008. Third National Development Plan (NDP3) 2007/2008-2011/12 Volume I http://www.npc.gov.na/ Accessed May 2009

GRN 2008. Ministry of Environment and Tourism. Draft Procedures and Guidelines for Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) and Environmental Management Plan (EMP)

HAN 2008. Hospitality Association of Namibia, 2008. *HAN Statistics 2006, 2007 and 2008.* **Millennium Challenge Account, Namibia** www.mca.gov.na/download_doc.php?id=22 – Accessed March 2009

International Finance Corporation, 2006. International Finance Corporation's Performance Standards on Social & Environmental Sustainability

International Finance Corporation, 2007. Stakeholder Engagement: A Good Practice Handbook for Companies Doing Business in Emerging Markets. . http://www.ifc.org, accessed January 2009.

International Union for Conservation of Nature, 2009. http://www.iucn.org/ Accessed May 2009

Langer Heinrich Uranium (Pty.) Ltd. (2009) Information supplied by staff members.

Langer Heinrich Uranium(Pty) Ltd. Environmental Management Plan, 2008.

Metago Environmental Engineers (Pty) Ltd, 2009. Environmental Scoping/Baseline Report for the Proposed Expansion Project at Langer Heinrich Uranium Mine

Ministry of Environment and Tourism. http://www.met.gov.na/ Accessed May 2009

NTB 2007. Namibia Tourism Board 2007. Improving Domestic Tourism in Namibia, 2007. www.namibiatourism.com.na/ Accessed July 2008

NINHAM SHAND. 2008. Environmental and Socio-Economic Impact Assessment: Proposed 200/400/800 MW Coal-Fired Power Station and Additional Black Start Generation Facility at Walvis Bay, Namibia. Final Scoping Report, Report No. 4727/402633

NINHAM SHAND. 2008. Social and Environmental Impact Assessment: Proposed Expansion Project for Rössing Uranium Mine in Namibia: Phase 1 ~ Acid Plant, Ore Sorter & SK4 Pit. Final Social and Environmental Impact Assessment Report (Report No 4560/402239)

NINHAM SHAND. 2009. Proposed 200/400/800 MW Coal-Fired Power Station and Additional Black-Start Generation Facility at Walvis Bay, Namibia: Environmental and Socio-Economic Impact Assessment, Report No. 4866/402633

Pers Comm Uiseb, V, 2009. Roads Authority, Swakopmund. uisebv@ra.org.na

Pers. Comm Berry, H & Braby, R. 2009. rbraby@nacoma.org.na, ecoguide@iway.na

Pers. Comm Davis, R. 2009. MET, Swakopmund. 064 404 576

Pers. Com Dreyer D. 2008, Municipality of Walvis Bay. Ddreyer@walvisbaycc.org.na

Pers. Comm. Garoeb, L. 2008. Erongo Regional Council. Lgaroeb@erc.com.na Pers. Comm. du Plessis, J. 2009. Sunshine Tours. Jacques@sunshinecoaches.com

Pers. Comm. van Rooyen, EP, 2009. Wesbank Transport. management@wesbanktransport.com

Pers. Comm. Amadilha,, H. 2009. Roads Authority. AmadhilaH@ra.org.na Pers. Comm. Lekobane, Sr. 2009, Social Worker, Walvis Bay Hospital. 064 – 216300

Pers. Comm. Brummer, A. 2009. Walvis Bay Municipality. abrummer@walvisbaycc.org.na

Pers. Comm. R Solomon, 2009 Park Warden, Ministry of Environment and Tourism. <u>riaansolomon@namibnet.com</u>

Pers. Comm. Beytell, B. 2009. Ministry of Environment and Tourism. bbeytell@mweb.com.na

Pers. Comm. Ondigo P 2008 Rössing Foundation. pondigo@rossing.com.na

Pers. Comm. Plaatjie, A. 2009. Town Council of Swakopmund. aplaatjie@swkmun.com.na

Pers. Comm. Schneeweiss, R. 2009 Rössing Uranium, Rainer.Schneeweiss@riotinto.com

Pers. Comm. Leippert, M. Coastal and Environmental Tourism Association of Namibia. leippert@iway.na

Swakopmund Municipality 2006. http://www.swkmun.com.na/

Swakopmund Municipality, 2009. http://www.swkmun.com.na/newsletters.htm. Accessed May 2009

The Economist, 15 May 2009. http://www.economist.com.na/index. Accessed May 2009

The Southern African Institute for Environmental Assessment (2007). Namibian Coast Conservation and Management ("NACOMA") Project. Review of Existing Institutional Mandates, Policies and Laws Relating to Coastal Management, and Proposals for Change.

Turpie, J, G. Lange, R. Martin, R Davies & J Barnes (2005). Economic Analysis and Feasibility Study for Financing Namibia's Protected Areas, http://www.gefweb.org/Documents/Council_Documents/GEF_C25/BD-Namibia-SPAN_PRO_DOC_April_14_2005-3.pdf. Accessed April 2006.

World Bank (2006) World Development Report: Equity and Development, The World Bank and Oxford University Press, 340 pp

World Bank, 2007. International Bank For Reconstruction And Development. Interim Strategy Note: An Engagement Framework for the Republic of Namibia for FY08-09, April 25,2007

World Travel and Tourism Council, 2006. Namibia The Impact of Travel & Tourism on Jobs and the Economy

World Travel and Tourism Council, 2009. Travel and Tourism Economic Impact, Namibia. *www.wttc.org/ - Accessed May 2009*